Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1778 (2008) 1676-1695



Review

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Biochimica et Biophysica Acta

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/bbamem

BBBA

Structure of pulmonary surfactant membranes and films: The role of proteins and lipid–protein interactions

Jesús Pérez-Gil*

Departamento Bioquímica, Facultad de Biología, Universidad Complutense, 28040 Madrid, Spain

ARTICLE INFO

ABSTRACT

Article history: Received 28 December 2007 Received in revised form 7 April 2008 Accepted 6 May 2008 Available online 11 May 2008

Keywords: Lamellar body Tubular myelin Collectin Saposin Membrane domain Raft Lipid phase Monolayer Membrane fusion SP-A SP-B SP-C Air-liquid interface The pulmonary surfactant system constitutes an excellent example of how dynamic membrane polymorphism governs some biological functions through specific lipid-lipid, lipid-protein and protein-protein interactions assembled in highly differentiated cells. Lipid-protein surfactant complexes are assembled in alveolar pneumocytes in the form of tightly packed membranes, which are stored in specialized organelles called lamellar bodies (LB). Upon secretion of LBs, surfactant develops a membrane-based network that covers rapidly and efficiently the whole respiratory surface. This membrane-based surface layer is organized in a way that permits efficient gas exchange while optimizing the encounter of many different molecules and cells at the epithelial surface, in a cross-talk essential to keep the whole organism safe from potential pathogenic invaders. The present review summarizes what is known about the structure of the different forms of surfactant, with special emphasis on current models of the molecular organization of surfactant membrane components. The architecture and the behaviour shown by surfactant structures in vivo are interpreted, to some extent, from the interactions and the properties exhibited by different surfactant models as they have been studied in vitro, particularly addressing the possible role played by surfactant proteins. However, the limitations in structural complexity and biophysical performance of surfactant preparations reconstituted in vitro will be highlighted in particular, to allow for a proper evaluation of the significance of the experimental model systems used so far to study structure-function relationships in surfactant, and to define future challenges in the design and production of more efficient clinical surfactants.

© 2008 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

1. Introduction	1676
2. Pulmonary surfactant: the molecules and the basic interactions	1677
2.1. The lipids and the membrane phases	1677
2.2. The membrane-associated surfactant proteins	1679
3. Membrane packing and unpacking in lamellar bodies	1681
3.1. Role of proteins in the biogenesis and organization of LBs	1681
3.2. Unpacking LBs	1683
4. Ordered membrane organization in tubular myelin	1684
5. Interfacial membrane-based surfactant films under dynamic conditions	1687
6. Lateral structure of pulmonary surfactant membranes and films.	1689
7. An integrated model of pulmonary surfactant structure at the alveolar spaces	1691
Acknowledgements	1692
References	1692

1. Introduction

The lungs establish the largest surface contact that most airbreathing vertebrates have with their environment. Exposure of a sufficiently large surface to the air is required to facilitate appropriated

^{*} Tel.: +34 91 3944994; fax: +34 91 3944672. *E-mail address:* jpg@bbm1.ucm.es.

^{0005-2736/\$ -} see front matter © 2008 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.bbamem.2008.05.003

levels of gas exchange to support metabolic functions [1,2]. A complex macromolecular system has evolved in the pulmonated organisms as part of their environmental interface, to provide optimal properties in terms of structural stability and accessibility to the air phase while raising an efficient barrier against environmental insults, including the entrance of pathogens. Pulmonary surfactant, a membrane-based lipid–protein complex, which is assembled and secreted onto the respiratory surface by specialized cells of the alveolar epithelium, contains molecular components simultaneously responsible for biophysical stabilizing activities [3] and innate defence mechanisms [4,5]. Which of these activities evolved first is a matter of debate, but it is becoming clear that the two functions, biophysics and defence, are now inseparably coordinated in the surfactant system.

Lack of an operative surfactant system is associated with severe respiratory dysfunctions [6-8]. The pulmonary surfactant system matures during the last few weeks of gestation, and babies delivered prematurely before a threshold amount of surfactant has been produced are at risk of developing Infant Respiratory Distress Syndrome (IRDS), a major cause of mortality and morbidity in neonates, particularly before supplementation with exogenous surfactant preparations was established as a routine therapeutical practice [9,10]. On the other hand, patients suffering from acute lung injury (ALI), arising from a number of different potential causes, often develop Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome (ARDS) ending in severe respiratory failure due, at least in part, to inactivation of the surfactant system by inflammatory by-products and blood components leaked into the airways through a deteriorated alveolar-capillary barrier [11-13]. Much research in this field, carried out in the last decades, has been devoted to elucidating the role of the different lipid and protein components of surfactant, with the primary purpose of understanding the molecular mechanisms associated with surfactant function. An additional objective has been defining the minimal compositional requirements for an effective therapeutic surfactant [14–17]. Extensive knowledge is available today about structural and physicochemical properties of most surfactant components in simplified model systems, although we still do not fully understand how the whole surfactant complex is assembled and developed in vivo or the molecular mechanisms by which surfactant proteins and membranes modulate respiratory physiology. The clinical surfactant preparations available today are effective in preventing and treating IRDS in preterm babies, but have not proven effective in reverting or ameliorating ARDS, suggesting that clinical formulations are still suboptimal, but also that we need to get further insight into the molecular events defining surfactant action in the complex context of the alveolar spaces, both in normal and injured lungs.

Apart from the clinical importance of understanding structurefunction correlations in surfactant, the pulmonary surfactant system constitutes an excellent example of how dynamic membrane polymorphism governs some biological functions through specific lipidlipid and lipid-protein interactions assembled in highly differentiated cells [18-20]. Lipid-protein surfactant complexes are assembled in pneumocytes in the form of tightly packed membranes, which are stored in specialized organelles called lamellar bodies (LB). Upon secretion of LBs, surfactant develops a membrane-based network that covers rapidly and efficiently the whole respiratory surface. This membrane-based surface phase is organized in such a way that it permits an efficient exchange of molecules between the gas and the liquid regions in alveoli, enabling gases to reach the blood stream flowing on the other side of the thin alveolar-capillary barrier. At the same time, the respiratory surfactant layer optimizes the encounter between many different molecules and cells at the epithelial surface, in a cross-talk essential to keep the whole organism safe from potential pathogenic invaders [5].

The present review summarizes what is known about the structure of the different forms of surfactant, with special emphasis on current model systems on the molecular organization of surfactant membrane components. The architecture and behaviour shown by surfactant structures in vivo will be interpreted to some extent from the interactions and properties exhibited by different surfactant models as they have been studied in vitro, particularly addressing the possible roles played by surfactant proteins. However, the limitations in structural complexity and biophysical performance of surfactant preparations reconstituted in vitro will be particularly highlighted, to allow a proper evaluation of the significance of the experimental models used so far to study structure–function relationships in surfactant, and to define future challenges in the design and production of more efficient clinical surfactants.

2. Pulmonary surfactant: the molecules and the basic interactions

The composition of pulmonary surfactant has been discussed in detail in other reviews, including its analysis as a reference either to interpret differences in performance of current clinical surfactant preparations of natural origin [14] or to rationalize the selection of protein and lipid components used to produce new artificial surfactants [15,21]. The present review will then sketch only the main structural features, the potential interactions and some of the selforganization properties of what are considered the key compositional elements in surfactant [22,23] (see cartoon in Fig. 1). It is important to consider that composition of native pulmonary surfactant is usually studied using material obtained from bronchoalveolar lavage of animal lungs. This lavage may collect structures that could coexist in the airspaces but were assembled separately and/or play different functions, or from different locations of the respiratory tract. The traditional approach has been to fractionate the lipid/protein material obtained from lavage into what has been called large aggregates (LA), large membrane-based structures with relatively high density and very good surface activity, and small aggregates (SA), of lighter density and much less surface active [24-26]. These two fractions are considered as two different stages of surfactant in its morphological transformation in the respiratory cycle. However, the possibility that both LA and the SA fractions are intrinsically heterogeneous and could contain more than one type of structure, cannot be discarded.

2.1. The lipids and the membrane phases

In general terms, pulmonary surfactant is composed of around 80% phospholipids, 5-10% neutral lipids -mainly cholesterol-, and 8-10% proteins, with 5-6% of total surfactant mass being constituted by specific surfactant proteins [22]. The phospholipid fraction of surfactant is mainly responsible for forming surface active films at the respiratory air-liquid interface [19,23], but it also provides the scaffold or matrix on which the different surfactant structures are assembled. In the bulk phase of aqueous environments, phospholipids usually selforganize in the form of bilayers, which is also the structural form in which surfactant is assembled and stored by the pneumocytes. At polar/non-polar interfaces such as the air-liquid interface, phospholipids form oriented monolayers, with the headgroups oriented towards the aqueous phase and the hydrophobic acyl chains pointing toward the air. The higher the concentration of phospholipid molecules at the interface, the fewer the number of water molecules exposed to air and the lower the surface tension, which also defines a lower energy required to enlarge the surface exposed while opening the alveoli during inspiration [22]. In most mammals, half of surfactant phospholipids by mass is composed of disaturated species, mainly dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine (DPPC), a scarce phospholipid species in other tissues. Evolution has probably selected DPPC as the main phospholipid species in surfactant because at physiological temperature, the saturated chains of DPPC can be packed to a very high density at the air-water interface, providing the large reductions of surface tensions required to stabilize the lung at the end of expiration [17,27]. The kinked chains of unsaturated phospholipid species -constituting



Fig. 1. Structure of lipid phases and membrane-associated proteins in pulmonary surfactant. The cartoon summarizes current models on the structure and orientation of the three proteins usually obtained associated with pulmonary surfactant membranes, SP-A, SP-B and SP-C. The representation of the oligomeric structure of SP-A has been inspired by electron microscopy pictures of the protein [54] and the three-dimensional structure determined for the CRD and neck domains of human SP-A [49] (code 1r13 at Protein Data Bank (PDB)), represented in the figure. The cartoon of the structure of SP-C has taken as a reference the conformation of the protein as determined by NMR in organic solvents [93] (PDB code 1spf). The model for the dimer of SP-B has been drawn from predictive studies of the potential position of helical segments in the protein [195]. Differences in organization and packing of phospholipids have been illustrated in gel, liquid disordered and liquid-ordered phases in bilayers, and in liquid-expanded and liquid-condensed two-dimensional phases in interfacial films. Potential distribution of cholesterol molecules (yellow) in ordered and disordered phases has been also represented.

roughly the other half mass of surfactant phospholipids- cannot be interfacially packed beyond a certain threshold and cannot therefore sustain low enough tensions [28]. This is also the rationale for DPPC constituting the main phospholipid component in all the clinical surfactant preparations available today, those surfactants being obtained from natural extracts or prepared with synthetic lipids [14,15]. Some challenging recent data from the group of Hall show that films made of unsaturated phospholipid species can also reach stably very low surface tensions, if they are compressed at high enough speed [29]. It has been proposed that very rapid compression takes the film into a highly dense vitreous-like state, also competent to sustain very low tensions. Interestingly, surfactant from heterothermic mammals adapted to live at relatively low temperatures contains unusually low levels of DPPC, which is substituted by certain amounts of palmitoleoylpalmitoyl phosphatidylcholine (PPPC). Packing and fluidity properties of membranes containing this unsaturated phospholipid species could be more favourable for surfactant function at low temperature than that of DPPC-enriched structures, which are optimal at around 37 °C [30]. Packing propensity is then a main feature to define surface activity and organization of surfactant structures, while the actual packing of surfactant phospholipids does not only depend on the acyl chain composition but also on temperature, the presence of other lipids such as cholesterol and, at the interface, the state of compression, as summarized in the cartoon of Fig. 1. At low temperatures, phospholipid bilayers are in *gel* phase (called L_{β}), in which the lipid molecules are highly ordered and show much reduced lateral mobility. If the phospholipid possesses saturated chains -such as DPPC- the gel phase is very highly packed. At temperatures above a threshold, known as the gel-to-fluid transition temperature or $T_{\rm m}$, the bilayers melt to a *liquid–crystalline* fluid state (called L_{α}), in which the lipid molecules gain considerable mobility and are relatively disordered, meaning that the acyl chains undergo frequent *trans-gauche* isomerizations at their C-C bonds. For this reason, this fluid state is also usually known as a fluid-disordered phase. The melting temperature of DPPC bilayers is 41 °C, slightly above the physiological temperature in homeothermic mammals. Therefore, pure DPPC bilayers would not be entirely fluid at 37 °C. Bilayers made of unsaturated phospholipid species have much lower $T_{\rm m}$ values. Palmitoyloleoylphoshatidylcholine (POPC), for instance, the main unsaturated phospholipid in surfactant, has a melting temperature of -3 °C [31]. The presence in surfactant of a significant proportion of unsaturated phospholipid species reduces the melting temperature of surfactant membranes to values lower than that of pure DPPC [32,33], making surfactant membranes fluid at physiological temperatures, which is important to improve their dynamical properties as will later be discussed. The gel and fluid phases in bilayers have some correspondence with the order and packing defined by the organization of phospholipids in interfacial monolayers. Besides temperature, packing at the interface can be also be defined by changes in compression, i.e., changes in the surface available for the lipids to redistribute, as occurs during the breathing cycles or is modelled in surface balances in vitro. At low compression levels, phospholipid molecules have low packing density and a considerable configurational freedom at the interface, constituting what is called a liquid-expanded (Le) phase [34,35]. In this interfacial Le phase, the mobility and order of phospholipids would be qualitatively similar to that in the bilayer L_{α} phase. When compressed enough at the interface, phospholipids can reach a highly packed state, known as a liquidcondensed (L_C) phase. The high order and low mobility of phospholipid

molecules in this two-dimensional phase approach those shown by gel phase bilayers [36]. As a matter of fact, lipid monolayers can only be compressed to a liquid-condensed phase at temperatures below the corresponding $T_{\rm m}$ of bilayers of the same composition. Interfacial compression can proceed even further, to reach extreme packing states which are in principle not accessible to phospholipids in bilayers, and produce *solid-ordered* phases (S_o). These solid phases are not compressible any further, and behave as real two-dimensional solids: the individual molecules have essentially no translational mobility and the film breaks if compressed beyond a threshold, leading to *collapse* of the film [37].

Besides temperature and compression, packing of phospholipids in bilayers and interfacial films is also modulated by the presence of cholesterol. Cholesterol is an important component of native surfactant (5-10% by mass), and recent results indicate that cholesterol is an important element modulating the structure of surfactant membranes [32,38]. In spite of this, cholesterol is systematically removed from most clinical surfactant preparations available today [14]. Intercalation of enough cholesterol molecules into phospholipid bilayers and interfacial monolayers decreases packing and increases mobility of phospholipids in the ordered phases (gel in bilayers, liquidcondensed in monolayers), producing phases where the phospholipid molecules maintain a certain order -a reduced number of transgauche isomerizations- but that are much more fluid than tightly packed pure phospholipid [39-41]. On the contrary, disordered phospholipid phases gain order in the presence of cholesterol, because the intercalation of the planar steroid molecules reduces considerably the conformational entropy of the acyl chains. Presence of cholesterol, therefore, defines an organization of particular phases termed Liquidordered (L_o), ordered but fluid, in both bilayers and interfacial films. Phases or regions with low cholesterol in membranes or films remain intrinsically disordered at high temperatures or low compression levels, and known as the *Liquid-disordered* phase (L_d). The cartoon in Fig. 1 illustrates that packing, order and thickness (per layer) increase in general terms in the order $L_{\alpha} \approx L_d \approx L_e < L_c \approx L_B < S_o$ in the different phases.

2.2. The membrane-associated surfactant proteins

The cartoon in Fig. 1 includes a representation of the three specific surfactant proteins, SP-A, SP-B and SP-C, which are obtained from alveolar lavage associated with pulmonary surfactant membranes and that are therefore considered as surfactant apolipoproteins [3,42]. A fourth surfactant protein, SP-D, is not usually associated with membranes [43,44] and will not be discussed in this review.

Proteins SP-A and SP-D are hydrophilic in nature and consist of large macromolecular assemblies belonging to the family of collectins, Ca²⁺-dependent C-type lectins possessing both collagen-like and carbohydrate-recognition domains (CRD) [45]. The quaternary structure of SP-A consists of a hexamer of trimers. Each trimer contains a long triple-helical collagenous stem, interrupted at a given point by a flexible hinge, a helical bundle connector and a globular head, which contains the CRD domains [46–48]. Through the globular heads, whose three-dimensional structure has been determined [49], SP-A is able to bind multiple ligands, including sugars, Ca²⁺, and phospholipids in a cooperative manner [48]. These activities allow SP-A to bind to the surface of multiple pathogens, including bacteria, viruses and fungi, contributing to their elimination from the airways as a part of the innate defence response [50]. Recognition of SP-A by specific receptors in alveolar macrophages stimulates phagocytosis and other pathogenicidal events [51-53]. Abundant details on the structurefunction determinants and the specific activities of SP-A can be found elsewhere [4,43,45,48,50]. What is relevant to consider for the models discussed in this review is that SP-A associates with pulmonary surfactant membranes via the CRD domains [54,55], and that Ca²⁺dependent cooperative membrane binding and protein self-association enables SP-A to promote membrane–membrane aggregation as assayed in vitro [56–58] (Fig. 2). Although the globular CRD domains of SP-A interact rather superficially with phospholipid membranes [59,60], the protein–lipid interaction has both hydrophobic and polar contributions [48]. It has been proposed that SP-A recognizes ordered lipid patterns, and that this is the rationale behind a certain preference for the protein to interact with ordered membranes such as those in gel-like or in liquid-ordered phases [61,62], and also with ordered regions or the boundaries between ordered and disordered phases in interfacial films [57,63]. SP-A could have then evolved to bind to or contribute to clustering of laterally segregated DPPC-enriched domains thought to exist in pulmonary surfactant membranes and films.

SP-B is the most important protein in surfactant for sustaining respiratory physiology. Inactivation of the expression of the SP-B gene leads to a lethal respiratory failure at birth, as a result of the impossibility of maintaining the lungs open [64-66]. This protein is strictly required for the biogenesis of pulmonary surfactant and its packing into LBs [67,68]. On the other hand, extensive research in vitro has shown that SP-B is very efficient in transferring surface active phospholipid species from membranes into air-liquid interfaces [69-71]. Unfortunately, a model for the three-dimensional structure and the molecular mechanism of SP-B is still lacking. Analysis of the sequence of SP-B reveals that this protein belongs to the family of the saposinlike proteins, which possess small folds of around 80 amino acids containing amphipathic alpha-helices and three highly conserved disulphide bridges in invariant positions [72]. All the saposin-like proteins have activities related to interacting with and inserting to different extents into phospholipid membranes [72], but SP-B is the only member of the family which is permanently membrane-associated. This is in part due to the high hydrophobicity of the protein, which is soluble in organic solvents such as chloroform/methanol mixtures, making it to co-purify with lipids in the extraction methods used to obtain the lipid moiety of surfactant. Mature SP-B is produced in the pneumocytes as a result of the processing of a much larger precursor, proSP-B, of around 400 residues [73]. The protein is obtained from alveolar spaces in the form of a covalent dimer of two 79amino-acid polypeptides. The cartoon in Fig. 1 illustrates that SP-B probably interacts more or less peripherally with phospholipid membranes and monolayers, with the main axis of its amphipathic helical segments orientated in parallel to the plane of the lipid layers [74-76]. The net positive charge of SP-B likely promotes a certain selective interaction of SP-B with the anionic phospholipid fraction of surfactant, and particularly with PG [77], although there is at present certain controversy as to whether SP-B prefers PG-enriched or PCenriched membrane regions [78-80]. What has been clearly demonstrated is that SP-B distributes preferentially in disordered regions of membranes [32] and interfacial films [81]. Detailed physico-chemical studies have revealed that SP-B has a strong tendency to perturb phospholipid packing in membranes and films, and as a consequence, to promote leakage of aqueous content from lipid vesicles [82,83], exchange of phospholipid molecules between membranes [83-85] and even whole membrane fusion events -meaning complete merging of lipid membranes and aqueous contents- [82,83,86] (summarized in Fig. 2). It is thought that membrane perturbation by the amphipathic helical motifs of SP-B could be an important determinant in catalyzing the transit of phospholipid molecules from surfactant membranes into the interfacial surface active film. SP-B could in this sense promote formation and stabilization of certain non-bilayer intermediates required for efficient phospholipid dynamics [87]. A recent study has mapped significant structure-activity determinants in the sequence of SP-B, identifying segments particularly active in promoting membrane perturbation and protein-mediated membrane-membrane associations [83]. A cluster of aromatic residues near the N-terminal end of the molecule has been also proposed as an important determinant defining high affinity of SP-B to interact with the interfacial region of phospholipid bilayers and monolayers [70].



Fig. 2. Membrane-perturbing activities and lateral in-plane distribution of surfactant-associated proteins.

The biosynthesis of SP-C, the smallest of the surfactant proteins, is tightly coupled with the differentiation of mammalian lung tissue [88,89]. This fact and the lack of significant homology between SP-C and any other known protein lead to the general thinking that SP-C could be the most specific protein in terms of the biophysical activities of pulmonary surfactant. Surprisingly, animals lacking expression of an operative SP-C can breathe and survive [90], suggesting that the action of SP-C is not as critical as that of SP-B. However, since the first genetic experiments deactivating the SP-C gene were carried out, it has become clear that deficiencies in SP-C are also associated with severe respiratory pathologies [7,66,91], usually under a chronically adverse regime, suggesting that SP-C may also be essential to properly sustain long-term respiratory dynamics. Mature SP-C is a small very hydrophobic lipopeptide of 35 amino acids, containing palmitoylated cysteines, which is co-purified with SP-B and phospholipids in chloroformic extractions of pulmonary surfactant [92]. Its threedimensional structure has been determined by NMR in chloroform/ methanol solutions [93], consisting in a very regular and rigid α -helix covering approximately two thirds of the sequence and an unstructured N-terminal segment containing prolines and the palmitoylated cysteines. In membranes, the helical segment of SP-C adopts a transmembrane orientation [94], perfectly suited to traverse the thickness of a DPPC bilayer in a fluid state. During the biosynthesis of proSP-C, its transmembrane segment, which will be later the main part of the mature protein, orientates with its N-terminal end exposed to the cytosol and the C-terminal side to the lumen of the endoplasmic reticulum [95]. Assembly of SP-C into pulmonary surfactant membranes is coupled with proteolytic processing of proSP-C precursor, to liberate N-terminal and C-terminal propeptides. When situated at an air-liquid interface in vitro, mature SP-C orientates with the Cterminal end exposed to air [96] (see Fig. 1), but there is no clear idea as to whether SP-C is actually transferred into the interface at the alveolar spaces in vivo. Different experiments have shown that SP-C, as well as SP-B, partitions into disordered regions in both bilayers [32] and monolayers [81,97]. The summary in Fig. 2 also illustrates that SP-C has been shown to promote exchange of phospholipids between membranes [98] and between membranes and interfacial monolayers [99,100], activities associated with the well-known property of SP-C to promote rapid formation of interfacial phospholipid-based films [85,99,101,102]. Although the molecular mechanism by which SP-C promotes interfacial adsorption is not known, it has been proposed that the N-terminal segment of SP-C has a rather dynamic character [103,104], with the potential to interact and perturb packing in lipid structures -membranes [105] or films [106]- other than the one where the hydrophobic α -helix is inserted [3,107,108]. Direct evidences for this mechanism, however, are still lacking. A recent study suggests that the palmitoylated N-terminal segment of SP-C could be well suited to stabilize interdigitated-like phospholipid structures [109] such as those potentially taking part as intermediates in bilayer-to-monolayer conversions or in bilayer-bilayer fusion.

Palmitoylation of the N-terminal segment has been also proposed to play a role in the association of the protein and SP-C-containing membranes with very well ordered lipid structures such as those thought to exist at the highest compressed states of the interfacial film [110]. Palmitoylation maintained peptides designed to mimic the Nterminal segment of SP-C associated with lipid/peptide monolayers compressed to high pressures, while non-palmitoylated peptides were irreversibly lost. Taking into consideration that the main part of SP-C is squeezed-out from highly compressed interfacial films [111], it is conceivable that the N-terminal segment of the protein is the only motif that, thanks to acylation, maintains association of surfactant layers with the most compressed interfacial structures (as illustrated, for instance, in Fig. 2).

3. Membrane packing and unpacking in lamellar bodies

Pulmonary surfactant complexes are assembled in type II pneumocytes and stored in the form of tightly packed membranes in the LBs. These organelles belong to the endosomal-lysosomal pathway and their maturation requires proper trafficking of proteins and lipids along the regulated exocytic pathway [20]. Extensive studies have approached the way pulmonary surfactant proteins SP-B and SP-C are synthetised as large precursors in the endoplasmic reticulum and processed through different intermediates as they are targeted through the Golgi, the multivesicular bodies (MVBs) and LBs [73,112-114]. Although it was originally proposed that at least some amount of SP-A could be also associated with LBs [115] it is now widely assumed that SP-A is secreted into the extracellular media by a different pathway and it probably joins and interacts with surfactant membranes once in the alveolar spaces [116,117]. Maturation of the precursors of surfactant proteins SP-B and SP-C include several proteolytic steps, which are apparently coupled with the progressive acidification occurring in the exocytic compartments [20,73,112,118]. MVBs are organelles containing numerous internal unilamellar vesicles and are supposed to be the organelles preceding the final assembly and storage of surfactant [68,119]. Surfactant proteins and lipids also reach LBs once taken up again by endocytosis from the extracellular material and recycled into new surfactant [117,120]. However, no model has been proposed for the molecular mechanisms behind the biogenesis of the membranes as they are stored into the LBs, both from the point of view of how the particular lipid composition of surfactant is sorted and how the highly packed state of stored surfactant membranes is generated and stabilized. Understanding packing and organization of surfactant membranes in LBs would also provide clues about the mechanisms by which surfactant membranes are unpacked upon secretion and adsorb at the air-liquid interface.

3.1. Role of proteins in the biogenesis and organization of LBs

The study of genetic models in which the expression of surfactant proteins could be inactivated made clear very early that biogenesis of LBs is tightly connected with the expression and maturation of surfactant protein SP-B in type II cells. Lack of SP-B expression seems to be always accompanied, in both genetic animal models [64,68] and patients bearing inherited genetic deficiencies [6,8,66], of a deficit of LBs and an accumulation of MVBs in the pneumocytes. This observation confirmed that MVBs are probably the precursors of LBs, but also that the presence of the mature form of SP-B is somehow required for surfactant membranes to accumulate and pack in LBs. In the absence of SP-B, MVBs also accumulate a partially processed form of SP-C [121], indicating that full maturation of this protein requires either a direct interaction with SP-B or the type of membrane transformations that is promoted by SP-B. A hypothesis that has been proposed suggests that the proteases responsible for the last proteolytic steps in SP-C maturation might not have access to the lumen of the internal vesicles of MVBs unless SP-B exerts its lytic and fusogenic activities [73]. The membrane orientation of SP-C would be in principle preserved from the orientation of the protein at the endoplasmic reticulum and the Golgi membranes through the membrane budding process thought to be the source of the inner vesicles in MVBs. This orientation would then preclude proper processing of the domain exposed to the lumen of the vesicles topologically equivalent to the cytosol- by proteases residing in the endosomal-like compartments of MVBs. Membrane reorganization promoted by properly matured SP-B would gain access to the lumen of the internal vesicles permitting the complete processing also of SP-C. The hypothesis is appealing, but it still has to be demonstrated. On the other hand, tight packing of membranes in LBs could include the type of membrane-membrane interactions that SP-B is able to promote, at least in vitro [69,82,86,122], but this situation has still to be confirmed. As stated above, complete SP-B and SP-C processing requires a proper acidification along the exocytic pathway. Acidic pH -thought to be around 5.5 in LBs- could be also a major driving force to trigger full membrane packing, once proteins and lipids achieve a proper conformation and state of charge [118,123].

In recent years, however, a protein that has gained a major leading role in the biogenesis of surfactant and LBs is a membrane protein called the ATP-binding cassette transporter A3 (ABCA3). This protein belongs to a family of membrane transporters, which use the energy from ATP hydrolysis to pump different molecules across cellular membranes [124,125]. Many of these transporters act in fact as *flippases*, proteins catalyzing the transmembrane movement of phospholipids, which would otherwise translocate at a very slow rate [126–128]. The ABCA3 protein is probably a lipid translocase selective for saturated phospholipid species. This would explain why genetic deficiencies in the ABCA3 gene lead to failures in the accumulation of saturated phosphatidylcholine (PC) species in surfactant, lack of lamellar bodies, and the development of fatal respiratory distress syndrome in newborns [129,130]. It has therefore been proposed that ABCA3 is responsible for pumping surfactant lipids into endosomal-like compartments to originate lamellar bodies [131,132], in conjunction with SP-B and SP-C, which would organize the lipids in the form of tightly packed membranes. Exogenously expressed ABCA3 leads in culture cells to the accumulation of PC and cholesterol into lysosomes [133], supporting this hypothesis. It is important to notice that several of these ABC-type flippases are responsible for maintaining asymmetry of most cellular membranes, through selectively pumping certain lipid species from one leaflet of membranes to the other [134–136]. In this sense, it is remarkable that no study has been published so far on the possible asymmetric distribution of lipid species at the two sides of surfactant membranes. Membrane asymmetry caused or maintained by flippases has been in fact proposed as a major driving force in the biogenesis and trafficking of other membrane systems [127,137].

Fig. 3 illustrates the possible mode by which pumping of saturated lipid species by ABCA3 could promote accumulation of surfactant membranes inside LBs. A simple but continuous energy-supported translocation of phospholipids from the outer into the inner leaflet of the compartment would create an imbalance in the number of phospholipid molecules towards the inner side of the membrane. Selectivity of the pumping activity in favour of saturated species would also originate an asymmetric character of the membrane. The progressive accumulation of phospholipids into the inner leaflet could only be relaxed upon creation of membrane folds, which would protrude membrane structures into the lumen of the compartment. The driving force of asymmetric lipid pumping to promote membrane budding has been already demonstrated [138]. Vesiculation initiated and promoted by a continuous pumping of lipids into the inner leaflet of the limiting membrane could be the main mechanism behind the biogenesis of MVBs. Alternatively, folds originating mainly from the inner leaflet of the limiting membrane could protrude membranes into the lumen, which would be enriched in the lipids selectively pumped by ABCA3. The activity of the ABCA3 transporter could then explain at the same time the accumulation of saturated species in surfactant



Fig. 3. Model for the activity and the role of the ATP-binding cassette protein ABCA3 in the biogenesis of lamellar bodies. The ATP-binding cassette ABCA3 uses the free energy of ATP hydrolysis to catalyze translocation of phospholipids across the limiting membrane of lamellar bodies, with selectivity towards saturated phospholipid species. The model in a) illustrates how ABCA3-promoted continuous pumping of phospholipids could initiate membrane folding from the inner leaflet of endosomal/lysosomal compartments. Alternatively, and as indicated in model b), accumulation of saturated phospholipids in the inner leaflet might promote budding and vesiculation to yield accumulation of inner vesicles as observed in multimesicular bodies (MVBs). SP-C has been included in the membranes just to show how the orientation of the protein could be maintained through LB biogenesis, following the insertion of proSP-C in the endoplasmic reticulum. Further accumulation and tight packing of parallel or concentric surfactant membranes might require the concerted action of SP-B, as discussed in the text. Concentric (cLB) and parallel (pLB) morphologies of surfactant membranes in LBs may reflect differences in the packing state of surfactant. Electron microscopy pictures of MVB and pLB were a generous gift of Dr. Mattias Ochs, from University of Bern. The electron microscopy picture of cLB was provided by Dr. Paul Dietl, from University of Ulm in Germany.

membranes -essential for the surface activity at the respiratory surface- and the driving force to produce and accumulate membranes in the lumen of MVBs, which in a later stage would be packed to produce the lamellar bodies. Properly matured SP-B might be required to drive membrane-membrane packing, which might be necessary for maximal accumulation of membranes. In the presence of ABCA3 but in the absence of SP-B, membranes could only maintain a loosely packed state such as the one in MVBs. The cartoon in Fig. 3 also illustrates that presence of ABCA3 in the inner membranes could promote further membrane vesiculation at different levels, potentially explaining the "onion-like" morphology of apparently concentric membranes frequently observed in LBs. However, the cartoon clearly illustrates that most of these membranes would be interconnected topologically -also with the limiting membrane-, a condition that could be very important for a rapid and cooperative unpacking of the whole structure upon secretion. A wide examination of previously published electron microscopy pictures of LBs suggests that considering their morphology, there are two main classes of these organelles. A picture of each of these two types has been included as an example in Fig. 3. Some of them appear to contain round -spherical 3D- concentric-like membranes, with frequent but clearly discrete contacts between them. Others accumulate very tightly packed stacks of membranes which are parallel to a main axis of the LB, and are apparently in a close contact at their whole surface. The two types of LBs could represent different stages of packing, which could depend on the establishment of possible protein-promoted membrane-membrane interactions. Participation of SP-B in promoting such membrane packing could at least partially explain its major role in LB biogenesis.

The ABCA3 machinery would then be the main factor responsible for converting the energy provided by ATP hydrolysis into a *sphere* of packed membranes, the LB, which could be energetically *poised* to rapidly expand and unpack once the limiting membrane is open, presumably upon secretion. An open question remains as to the potential role of creating and maintaining lipid asymmetry in surfactant membranes, which could define, together with probable asymmetric orientations of surfactant proteins in the membranes, the occurrence of specific lipid–protein and protein–protein interactions governing surfactant morphology at different membrane sides.

3.2. Unpacking LBs

The final packed state of LBs could suppose a *pre-loaded* structure, energetically primed to favour very rapid and efficient unpacking once secreted to the extracellular alveolar environment. Recent observation of type II pneumocytes under dark-field microscopy reveals that secretory vesicles, i.e. LBs, show a strong scattering contrast (Paul Dietl, unpublished observations), consistent with a gradient of dense packing from the center towards the most external layers. ABCA3-promoted packing of LBs might progressively increase membrane packing until internal pressure can no longer be overcome by the free energy liberated by ATP hydrolysis. Fusion of the limiting LB membrane with the plasma membrane of pneumocytes could almost instantaneously liberate the internal pressure, producing swelling of the membranes and the abrupt expulsion of membrane complexes usually observed upon secretion in electron microscopy pictures (i.e. in [139]) (see Fig. 4).

Fig. 4 summarizes some significant images and experiments illustrating relevant aspects of LB secretion and unpacking. The first interesting observation comes from an extensive work carried out by the group of Drs. Paul Dietl and Thomas Haller [18,140–142]. They have extensively used the fluorescent probe FM-143 as a marker for LB exocytosis. This fluorophore can be added externally to the extracellular medium of type II cell primary cultures, and only shows significant fluorescence when it inserts into phospholipid membranes [142]. FM-143 cannot traverse membranes, so it can only insert into and fluorescently label membranes exposed to the external environment. Pictures and cartoons in Fig. 4a illustrate how FM-143 induces a rapid increase in bright fluorescence, as soon as a given LB fuses with the plasma membrane and the fusion pore permits the entrance of the probe. Secreted LBs can be therefore easily distinguished from nonsecreted organelles under a fluorescent microscope. The interesting feature is that apparently, all membranes inside the secreting LB become rapidly intensely labelled. This means that the internal membranes do not isolate different aqueous compartments inside each LB, but that the entire secreted membrane surface is simultaneously exposed to the external medium. A model of surfactant membrane packing such as the one suggested in Fig. 3 would be consistent with this observation. The work by Dietl et al. has also shown that once the fusion pore is formed, it still takes some time for the packed membranes to be completely expelled out of the cell [143]. Connection through the fusion pore of the internal medium of LBs with the extracellular environment probably triggers changes in membrane packing, due perhaps in part to re-hydration but also possibly to pH neutralization and other potential changes in the ionic environment, including a decrease in Ca²⁺ concentration, considering that calcium concentration inside LBs is fivefold higher than in the surrounding alveolar environment [144]. These changes could induce the partial unpacking of LB membranes often seen in just fused LBs (i.e. in the picture in Fig. 4b) (i.e. in [139]). Very often, unpacking of multilamellar arrays of LBs seems to proceed at defined peripheric points of the secreted body (as can be seen, for instance, in the picture of Fig. 4c), with inner layers being expelled out of the LB before the more external ones. A reason for that could be the increasing pressure gradient towards the center of the LB that could be implicit to the mechanism of progressive packing by ABCA3 pumping. One cannot discard the possibility that coupling of membranes through defined protein-protein interactions creates specific and localized structures that facilitate a cooperative unpacking. Microscopic observations also reveal that a main part of the secreted membranes retains a packed state, where a significant proportion of membrane-membrane contacts are retained [18,145]. The picture in Fig. 4d illustrates that the mechanism for membrane unpacking could include the slipping of some membranes over their neighbour ones, while maintaining their relative separation [146]. This feature suggests the possible existence of very dynamic, possibly protein-mediated, membrane-membrane interactions. Lipidprotein and protein-protein interactions could mediate membrane packing in the environmental context of the endosomal compartments, but lead to membrane unpacking under the different circumstances of the external medium. Optimization of the unravelling of LBs could require participation of other molecular elements such as additional proteins joining surfactant membranes once they are in the exterior hypophase milieu. SP-A secreted to the alveolar spaces from alternative pathways [146] could contribute to unpacking LBs mainly through conversion of multilamellar arrays into tubular myelin, as will be discussed later. It is important to consider, however, that parameters conditioning LB unpacking could be very different in the alveolar spaces in vivo, where both the respiratory dynamics and the secretion products of other cell types can also play a role, than in isolated cultured cells. Unpacking factors might even be subjected to modulation in real physiological situations.

An interesting observation is that in type II cell primary cultures, most secreted surfactant remains in the form of lamellar body-like packed particles for a relatively long time, from minutes to hours [143,146,147]. Though packed, these particles maintain a state which is highly competent for interfacial adsorption. Fig. 4e illustrates a typical experiment from those published by the group of Haller [146], showing how individual secreted LBs are very efficient in transferring surfactant material into the air–liquid interface [147]. As a single, packed, LB approaches and touches the interface it suddenly *explodes* and transfers almost instantaneously its material –lipids, protein and fluorescent markers– into the interface. Transferred material remains for a relatively long time of a few minutes in a defined region of the interface, as if there were limitations to free lateral diffusion of lipids –



Fig. 4. Unpacking of secreted lamellar bodies. a) Combined dark-field and FM-143 fluorescence images of lamellar bodies as they are secreted by primary cultures of type II pneumocytes, at different time points after stimulation by secretagogues. The cartoon illustrates how the red dark-field image identifies intracellular lamellar bodies, which are not initially labelled by the yellow fluorescent probe FM-143 because it cannot cross the plasma membrane. Fusion of the limiting membrane of LBs with the plasma membrane, allows the entrance of the probe into the lumen of the secreting LB and heavy labelling of surfactant membranes. Microscopic images generously provided by Dr. Paul Dietl, from University of Ulm, b) Electron microscopy illustrating how surfactant membranes in LBs may swell and spontaneously unpack as soon as the organelle fuses with the plasma membrane (picture provided by Dr. Stephen Young from Pennsylvania University). c) Unpacking of internal surfactant membranes through specific peripheral locations of a lamellar body (electron microscopy by courtesy of Dr. Paul Dietl, Univ. of Ulm). d) Sliding of surfactant membranes during unpacking of a lamellar body (reproduced from [146] with permission). e) Sequence of microscopy pictures illustrating how a single surfactant lamellar body-like particle approaches the interface (*t*=0), touches it (*t*=9 s) and almost instantaneously "explodes" and transfer all the phospholipids into an inverted air–liquid interface. Fluorescently-labelled lipids transferred into the interface look confined in a defined interfacial region for long periods, indicating that lateral diffusion of lipid species is limited in the plane of the relate. The particle approaches from [146] with permission.

at least of the probes- along the interfacial plane. One could speculate that the network of lipid-protein interactions maintaining membrane packing in the secreted LBs could also be responsible for maintaining the material in a low-diffusible state upon transfer, either at the interface itself or as part of surface-associated multilayer complexes. The remarkable efficiency of the LB structure to be transferred at once into the interface could be essential for a rapid surfactant replenishment of the respiratory interface in vivo. The elaborated architecture of membrane arrangements in LBs could have been evolutionarily optimized for this purpose, and it is surely very distinct from the organization and the surface behaviour of the type of lipid/protein complexes composing the clinical surfactant preparations currently in use. Inverted phase experiments show that transfer of material from secreted LBs into the interface is modulated by surface tension [147], suggesting that most material could maintain a packed state until the precise moment when the interface needs to be replenished. Thus, packed lamellar bodies could be less prone to inactivation by binding serum components than the more exposed membranes of clinical surfactants [148]. In vivo, secreted but still packed LBs, ready to transfer material into the interface, could coexist with unpacked structures fulfilling complementary functions such as establishment of defence networks or organization of dense surface phases optimized for mechanical resistance under the demanding circumstances of respiratory physiology.

4. Ordered membrane organization in tubular myelin

Electron microscopy pictures of surfactant material purified from alveolar lavage or from whole lung tissue, reveal that a significant fraction of secreted surfactant membranes rearrange in a very unusual ordered network of membranes called tubular myelin (TM) [139,149]. This membrane-based structure has a remarkable architecture, which is not found in any other animal tissue. Material secreted from pneumocyte cultures only seldom shows TM figures (Dr. Paul Dietl, personal communication), suggesting that TM assembly requires both secreted surfactant and additional complementary elements, which are available at sufficient concentration in the alveolar spaces such as, perhaps, the collectin SP-A. The seminal reconstitution studies carried out by Suzuki's group [150] early established that TM organization requires the presence of phospholipids DPPC and PG, proteins SP-A and SP-B, and Ca²⁺. Consistent with this observation, animals in which the expression of SP-A was inactivated lacked TM [151,152]. Interestingly, these animals did not show any apparent respiratory dysfunction upon birth, suggesting that TM has no an essential role in the biophysical function of pulmonary surfactant. As SP-A is mainly implicated in innate defence [4], current thinking assumes that TM structure plays also some role in optimizing clearance of pathogens, although no rational hypothesis has been raised to explain how TM, and the particular organization that SP-A and SP-B adopt in such a structure, could enhance defence actions.

Still, the way surfactant proteins re-organize membranes to produce TM is remarkable, and deserves some discussion. As stated above, the SP-A macromolecule is a major determinant for TM organization. Membranes in TM arrange in an ordered pattern, whose dimensions are related with the molecular size of SP-A macromolecule. As a matter of fact, manipulation of the size of SP-A, through genetic modification of the segment of the gene codifying for the collagenic stem, gave rise to a correlation between the size of the protein and the dimensions of the membrane pattern in TM [54]. Architecture of TM must therefore rely on the properties of SP-A to interact with membranes and other surfactant proteins. Fig. 5 displays some significant pictures illustrating and interpreting how SP-A interacts with and modulates membrane structure at a macroscopic scale. The macromolecular character of SP-A assembly allows direct observation of the disposition of the protein when it associates with the surface of membranes [54,55], as illustrated in the electron micrographs of Fig. 5a. The typical disposition of SP-A at the surface of membranes consists of an apparent direct interaction of most of the globular heads -those containing the Ca²⁺dependent CRD domains- with the membrane, while the collagenous stem points more or less perpendicularly away from the membrane plane. This is consistent with experiments that determined that the phospholipid-binding motif of SP-A is located at the CRD globular domains [153,154]. The high resolution of the micrographs taken by Palaniyar et al. allows observation of an interesting feature. As the details magnified in Fig. 5a illustrate, the end of the collagenous stem of each SP-A molecule shows a clearly defined Y-shaped structure, which could be important to define specific interactions of this part of the protein with other SP-A molecules, receptors, etc. To our knowledge, no data has been provided so far on the possible three-dimensional structure of the N-terminal end of the SP-A assembly in spite of the fact



Fig. 5. Interaction of surfactant protein SP-A with phospholipid membranes. a) Electron microscopic pictures illustrating the interaction of hexadecameric SP-A with phospholipid membranes at a superficial (left micrography) or a curved membrane (right micrography) disposition. The cartoons on the right interpret how the interaction of only a few as opposed to practically all of the globular domains could be the difference between the two dispositions of the protein in the membranes. Details of SP-A structure enclosed in white boxes have been magnified below, to show how the N-terminal end of SP-A molecule seems to adopt a well-defined Y-shaped structure, which could be the basis for a potential protein/protein interacting motif. EM pictures have been reproduced from [54] with permission. b) Effect of SP-A to promote formation of "corrugated" phospholipid membranes, with defined grooves of regular dimensions. The EM picture (reproduced from [161] with permission) has been interpreted according to the cardioding to the car

that this segment of the molecule has been proposed as a critical element in lipid–protein and protein–protein interactions, including SP-A/SP-A network organization or interaction of SP-A with its cellular receptors [155,156]. Protein–protein interactions through the N-terminal end of their collagenous stems is a very important function for other collectins such as SP-D [60,157], but again no information is available about the structural context of such interactions. Most structural work with collectins has been mostly focused so far on the study of the folding and functional determinants of the globular domains [49,60,158,159].

In some pictures, such as the one on the right of Fig. 5a, binding of SP-A creates a deep depression in the membrane, with some localized markedly curved regions [54,55]. How SP-A could pass from the planar disposition at the membrane surface to the curved membrane situation is not known. A possibility is that the membrane depression would be created upon extensive interaction of the globular domains, and perhaps also the segments connecting the collagen with the globular heads, with the membrane, in a particular conformation. Lateral protein-protein interactions of the different globular heads from a given SP-A molecule could also be important to establish a rigid membrane-interacting protein platform. Another possibility is that interaction of SP-A with the membrane could sort the lipids laterally to segregate a region particularly enriched in saturated species. It has been demonstrated that SP-A has some preference to interact with ordered arrays of phospholipid headgroups such as the ones organized in ordered lipid phases [61,63,160]. SP-A-promoted curved membranes could be a result of creation by SP-A of boundaries between ordered rigid membrane phases and fluid, more deformable, membrane regions.

Whatever the molecular reason, the potential of SP-A to create membrane curvature and membrane deformations could be greatly enhanced in a cooperative manner at enough protein densities, as shown by several groups [161–163]. Fig. 5b shows a very suggestive picture in this respect, taken by the group of Dr. Nades Palaniyar. SP-A favours phospholipid membranes to adopt a corrugated structure, in which membrane shows distinct hills and valleys, with very regular dimensions [161]. A somehow corrugated structure was observed also in protein-free DPPC-containing lipid membranes, suggesting that the protein could interact and perhaps stabilize periodical lipid arrangements pre-existing in the membranes. Bilayers made of DPPC are known to form by itself a *ripple* phase [164] at temperatures between the pretransition –around 32 °C– and its main thermotropic transition, at 41 °C. A similar corrugated-like structure adopted by DPPCenriched membrane regions could be the structure somehow stabilized by SP-A. It was demonstrated that the valleys in the membranes are associated with long-range SP-A alignments. Therefore, as illustrated in the cartoon in Fig. 5b, the corrugated membrane structure could also include deformations induced by alignment of SP-A molecules in the membrane. The alignment of SP-A could be the entropic consequence of a thermodynamically favourable segregation of SP-A-promoted deformed membrane regions. A similar mechanism has been recently proposed as a major force driving long-range protein-promoted membrane deformations [165,166]. Alternatively, specific lateral SP-A/SP-A interactions might mediate the extension of membrane deformations into the long grooves observed in corrugated membranes [167]. The ability of SP-A to self-associate in fibers and fibrous networks [55] could be the basis of the particular arrangements of the protein in the TM structure once the SP-A molecules get orientated at the surface of the membranes. The conclusion is that the combination of membrane-protein and protein-protein interactions of SP-A supplies the potential of SP-A to modulate membrane structure at a macroscopic scale.

Fig. 6 presents a model suggesting how SP-A interactions could mediate organization of TM architecture. Pictures in Fig. 6a illustrate the remarkable regular structure of membranes in TM [145]. Those transmission electron micrographs typically show that membranes in TM form a square lattice, with the membranes apparently crossing each other at regular distances. To our knowledge there is no data about whether intersecting membranes in TM are really fused, just apposed, or whether the crossing membranes are locations where lipids adopt non-bilayer structures. The correlation between the dimensions of the square pattern of TM and the molecular size of SP-A strongly supports the view that the lattice could be a consequence of regular deformations induced by SP-A arrays, such as those observed in corrugated membranes. Some pictures obtained by Palaniyar et al. revealed a very important feature [161], as shown in Fig. 6b. Fixation of TM membrane figures, followed by delipidization, allowed the observation under TEM of the presence in TM of an ordered network of protein, in the form of filamentous crosses occupying the lipid-free square spaces in TM tubes. Those protein-made crosses could be interpreted as an apposition of four SP-A molecules, contacting one to another through the N-terminal end of the collagenous stem. This disposition was suggested by Palaniyar et al. [54] and previously by others [168], but no clear model has been proposed for the way the membranes could be forced to adopt the TM network. However, in our opinion, the disposition of SP-A molecules in TM with contacts through their N-terminal ends immediately suggests a possible model for a transition from SP-A-promoted corrugated membranes into the square tubular structure of TM membranes, in a similar way to what it was already suggested by Palaniyar et al. [167], which is schematized in Fig. 6c. Two corrugated membranes could couple their grooves one to another by the direct interaction of the Nterminal collagenous ends of the SP-A molecules aligned in the valleys. Similar interactions could make SP-A promote lipid vesicle aggregation, with the important participation of the N-terminal segment of the protein [60,156]. Cooperative contacts between SP-A molecules regularly distributed in the two contiguous membranes would create a layer of square-shaped tubes. The square shape would be a consequence of the membrane deformation induced by SP-A, as observed already in the sharp edges of the grooves in corrugated membranes [161]. Apposition of two corrugated membranes through SP-A/SP-A interactions would also put in contact the membranes themselves at the "hills" between the "grooves". Such membrane-membrane interactions could be supported or facilitated by the presence, in these abutting regions, of SP-B, a protein known to induce membrane-membrane interactions. This process could be followed by real membrane fusion [69,83,86,122], also required to assemble TM [150]. Apparently crossing membranes could then be really fused or perhaps only closely apposed via SP-B/SP-B or SP-B/ membrane interactions. Similar association of not only two, but multiple SP-A-modelled corrugated membranes would extend TMlike structure in the third dimension. The model would predict that only SP-A dimers -formed through interaction of the N-terminal ends of two SP-A hexadecamers- would be enough to trigger membrane organization in the TM-like architecture. The protein crosses observed in TM structure [161] could be a consequence of either a two-dimensional projection of SP-A dimers orientated in two different perpendicular dispositions inside each tube or the interaction via their N-terminal ends of four different SP-A molecules -two dimers- at each node of the membrane network. Isolation and structural characterization of native-like SP-A supraoligomers would shed some light on this respect. It is interesting to notice that there are apparently some differences in the structure of some of the TM figures shown in the literature. In some pictures, it seems that the proteinaceous filaments -presumably SP-A- are more or less homogeneously distributed in the TM lattice (for instance, in Fig. 6b). However, in TM-like structures observed as directly forming from lamellar body unpacking, it is usually noticed that square tubules with two types of shapes coexist, which are alternately arranged (see, for instance, Fig. 6a and the magnified detail). SP-A-like structures seem to locate, in such "early" TM, only



Fig. 6. Structure and molecular model for the assembly of tubular myelin. a) Electron microscopy picture illustrating how membranes from LBs can unpack to form the square-lattice network of membranes typical of tubular myelin. The magnified detail illustrates how the square tubes in TM that has been just assembled from unpacked LBs are of two types, with well differentiated sizes, with only the smaller ones containing SP-A-like fibrous structures (identified by arrows). The picture, by courtesy of Dr. Stephen Young, from Pennsylvania University. b) Protein lattices in delipidized TM samples, showing the regular disposition of proteinaceous cross-like figures in the square-lattice pattern defined by pre-existing membranes. Figures represent negative staining and its reverse contrast. Taken from [161] with permission. c) Model for the possible SP-A and SP-B-promoted assembly of TM network. Pairs of SP-A-corrugated membranes could couple via SP-A/interactions mediated by their N-terminal domains. Additional membrane layers could be assembled through protein-protein interactions. Membrane-membrane contacts could be favoured or progress towards real membrane fusion in the presence of SP-B, which has been shown to be required to reconstitute TM in vitro.

in alternate tubules. The model in Fig. 6c suggests that early TM could be an intermediate form upon the primary interaction of SP-A with just one side of the membranes, as they are progressively unpacked from LBs. Later interaction of further SP-A molecules with membrane tubes could complete the organization of the very regular, and probably rigid, structure of mature tubular myelin.

5. Interfacial membrane-based surfactant films under dynamic conditions

Membrane unpacking after surfactant secretion ultimately leads to the adsorption of lipid/protein complexes into the air–water pulmonary interface [146]. The stabilization by surfactant of the respiratory surface through a dramatic reduction in surface tension strictly requires formation of an interfacial film competent to exclude most water molecules from their exposure to air [17]. The potential behaviour of interfacial surfactant layers has been extensively evaluated in simple surface balance models, where physiologically relevant conditions such as lipid and protein composition, compression–expansion rates, temperature, ionic environment of the subphase, etc, have been extensively studied [3,17,19,169]. However, it is becoming clear that surfactant films as they are formed in vivo are probably much more complex than the simple monolayers studied during the last 30 years as fundamental models of surfactant films. Therefore, care must be taken when extrapolating most of the features defined from the studies in basic surface balances to the real physiological situation.

Basic concepts widely assumed in pulmonary surfactant physical chemistry include that surfactant films must reduce surface tension to values near 0 mN/m at the end of expiration -in principle, the maximally compressed state of the respiratory surface- to avoid alveolar collapse [22]. Also, that just a phospholipid-based monolayer enriched in saturated species can sustain low enough tension upon compression, and only at temperatures below the $T_{\rm m}$ temperature of the corresponding gel-to-fluid phase transition of the phospholipids [27,170]. According to these assumptions, DPPC is the major component of surfactant in mammals because it is the phospholipid species optimally selected to form films capable of reaching extremely low tensions when compressed at 37 °C [17,22,23]. The recent data provided by the group of Hall showing that rapid compression of films made exclusively of unsaturated phospholipids can also produce very low tensions are challenging the classical model [29]. Unsaturated phospholipids, as well as other lipid and protein components of surfactant have been usually considered to play the role of modulating the properties of DPPC to facilitate its transit to the air-water interface [19,27,37,171,172]. Some of these other components were also proposed to promote a progressive enrichment of the interfacial film in DPPC [170,173,174], as this was supposedly the main component able to produce and sustain the lowest tensions. However, these concepts have arisen mainly from the study of the behaviour under different conditions of monomolecular films formed in surface balances by spreading lipid or lipid/protein mixtures from organic solvent solutions. The fact that the two hydrophobic proteins required to stabilize the lung, SP-B and SP-C, can be purified and manipulated in organic solvent has also facilitated their inclusion and study in such simplified models. This section will analyze the current basic ideas on the participation of surfactant proteins and lipid-protein interactions in interfacial dynamics as it has been mostly proposed from the models, within the scope of the potential relevance in the physiological context of the alveolar spaces.

Both, SP-B and SP-C, promote rapid transfer of phospholipids from membranes into interfacial films [71,100,102]. In vitro, adsorption to open interfaces at relatively diluted surfactant concentrations could end in an extensive conversion of bilayers into interfacial monolayers [87,175]. Such conversion may or may or not imply transfer of proteins themselves into the interface. At the high surfactant concentrations thought to exist in the alveolar surface, SP-B and SP-C probably promote the establishment of molecular connections between the secreted membrane-based structures and the surface film [69]. Those protein-promoted contacts could ensure a rapid flow of lipids between the different structures, which is probably important to facilitate replenishment of the interface with surface active molecules.

Compression of interfacial films formed in vitro produces very low surface tension, both in regular Langmuir-type surface balances [17,23,171,172] and in captive bubble surfactometers [176], as long as the film contains a sufficient proportion of saturated DPPC. Compression in Langmuir balances of films formed by whole native surfactant or its organic extract –containing all the lipids plus the hydrophobic surfactant proteins– show isotherms with very conspicuous plateaus [37,177], indicative of the existence of structural transitions occurring in the compressed films, which are required for the films to reach the lowest tensions. When the films are formed and compressed at much more physiologically relevant conditions in captive bubble surfactometers, i.e. at higher concentrations of surfactant in the hypophase and relative rapid compression rates, the films reach the lowest tensions with much less compression than in films in LB balances [176,178]. Interfacial films formed from native-like concentrated surfactant suspensions could therefore be particularly prepared to sustain very low tensions -high lateral pressures- with very little change in the surface area. Adsorption of good surfactant preparations at high enough concentrations in the hypophase has been shown to produce interfacial films comprised of several phospholipid layers, tightly associated with the interface [179] (see Fig. 7a). Similar interfacial multilayer arrays have been observed in electron microscopy pictures of lung tissue (an example is shown in Fig. 7b), using special procedures to fix and capture the lipid-enriched interfacial structures [180]. Other authors have been able to detect and analyze the repetitivity of membrane structure in surfactant multilayered films made of some partial surfactant preparations [181]. Compression of these multilayered films could yield a different behaviour in terms of the extent of compression required to reach the minimal tensions and in terms of stability, than the compression of simple monolayers. In the in vivo situation, the multilayered film would be probably interconnected with multiple surfactant membrane structures in the hypophase, including secreted lamellar body-like particles and tubular myelin arrays, increasing presumably the potential for the film to structurally stabilize the interface under dynamic conditions.

Monolayer experiments with films containing different proportions of surfactant proteins SP-B and SP-C have shown that the two proteins facilitate ordered and reversible compression-driven structural transitions. Compression of pure lipid films usually ends with an irreversible collapse, in which part of the lipid material is irreversibly lost towards the hypophase [28,37,161]. The presence of SP-B in films under compression results in the formation of associated bilayer patches (see AFM picture and cartoon in Fig. 7c), which can reinsert into the interface upon expansion [182]. Overcompression of lipid/protein films containing the lipopeptide SP-C also results in formation of multiple associated layers, presumably bilayers, which were not seen in the absence of the protein [183,184] (Fig. 7d). Maintenance of the association of the protein and the lipid/protein structures with the compressed films requires the palmitoylation of SP-C [110], suggesting that palmitoylation could permit this protein to associate simultaneously with and to sustain close contact between the two neighbour lipid layers. The model sketched in Fig. 7e suggests that SP-B could be particularly important in ensuring a rapid, and possibly bidirectional, flow of lipid molecules between the different surfactant structures and with the multilayer surface-associated film. Constitutive absence of SP-B compromises the synthesis and production of surfactant in its primary biogenesis [8,64], but the respiratory failure associated with an induced depletion of the protein in conditioned knock-out models [65,83] could rather be associated with the lack of a proper dynamic flow of lipids interconnecting the whole alveolar surface. SP-C might have, on the other hand, a major role in maintaining the integrity of the multilayered surface film, providing the particular properties of stability and mechanical resistance that only the well packed multilayered structure can sustain. The apparent reduced stability of the films formed by the surfactant of SP-C knock-out mice [90] would support this hypothesis, as well as the fact that the lack of an operative SP-C has been associated with the development over the long term of chronic respiratory failure [66,91].

In the alveolar spaces, formation of a thick enough surfactant multilayered film at the interface, interconnected with enough density of surfactant structures at the hypophase, could produce a relatively steady-state situation. The surfactant-loaded surface phase might then be optimized to sustain breathing dynamics needing very little change in area/volume of the terminal airways, where gas exchange is the primary objective. The observation that very significant



Fig. 7. Structure of multilayer interfacial surfactant films, a) Electron microscopy picture of a segment of the multilayer-like interfacial film formed by surfactant at the air-liquid interface by the lung epithelium (taken from [180] with permission). b) Multilayer-like film of natural surfactant adsorbed at the air-liquid interface of a captive bubble (from [179] with permission). c) AFM picture (from [182] with permission) of interfacial phospholipid films containing surfactant protein SP-B. The cartoon illustrates how the progressive compression of the films produce formation of lipid/protein discs of defined sizes, which are maintained in close contact with the interface presumably by lipid/protein interactions (adapted from [182]). d) Multilayer morphology of a compressed phospholipid film containing pulmonary surfactant protein SP-C, as observed by AFM (from [184] with permission). The cartoon below the AFM picture interprets the structure in terms of membrane layers sustained underneath the interface by simultaneous interaction of SP-C with neighbour surfactant layers. e) The model shows how in multilayered surfactant films, SP-B could be important to initiate protrusion of different membrane layers while palmitoylated SP-C could help to sustain close association of the different layers along the different compression–expansion respiratory cycles.

differences could exist in the change of the apparent alveolar volume during breathing when comparing a surfactant-containing with a surfactant-depleted lung [185], would support this view.

6. Lateral structure of pulmonary surfactant membranes and films

Much of the research during the last few years on the structure of pulmonary surfactant layers has been devoted to the analysis of the lateral in-plane organization of lipids and proteins in membranes and interfacial films. This organization probably explains, on one hand, the combination of saturated and unsaturated phospholipid species, charged lipids and cholesterol, which evolved to fulfil surfactant function in the defined context of temperature and mechanical constraints of mammalian lungs. On the other hand, an optimized lateral organization is likely important for pulmonary surfactant to simultaneously sustain its dynamic membrane polymorphism and a robust enough structural role in the airways.

The segregation of ordered and disordered regions in pulmonary surfactant membranes has been recently analyzed using giant unilamellar vesicle (GUV) technology [32,38] (see Fig. 8). Native surfactant membranes could be converted into micron-size fluorescently-labelled liposomes while maintaining its original lipid and protein organization. This approach has also been shown to preserve the original orientation of other membrane-associated proteins [186]. Microscopic observation of pulmonary surfactant GUVs under the microscope revealed the coexistence of two types of membrane regions. Part of the membrane surface was occupied by fluid-disordered domains, surrounded by a background of fluid-ordered phase, presumably enriched in DPPC and cholesterol. Proteins SP-B and SP-C partitioned selectively into the fluid-disordered regions. This lateral segregation of fluid phases was retained even after disorganization of the original structure by organic solvent extraction or the complete elimination of proteins, indicating that it is the particular lipid composition of surfactant that creates the coexistence pattern. The increase



Fig. 8. Lateral structure of pulmonary surfactant membranes and films. a) Segregation of fluid-ordered (red, DilC₁₈ labelled) and disordered (green, BODIPY-PC labelled) regions in native pulmonary surfactant membranes, observed in giant unilamellar liposomes (GUVs). Green and red liposomes on the right illustrate that both proteins, SP-B and SP-C, partition into the fluid-disordered membrane phase, as observed upon introduction into surfactant of traces of Alexa-488-labelled SP-C and Texas-Red-labelled SP-B. b) Heating of native surfactant membranes to temperatures above 37 °C produces melting of most liquid-ordered phase. c) GUVs prepared from a totally deproteinized lipid fraction of surfactant entirely mimic the coexistence of ordered/disordered fluid phases of native surfactant membranes, indicating that it is the lipid moiety of surfactant what drives lateral membrane organization. d) GUVs made of cholesterol-depleted surfactant always show a very polymorphic phase separation, consistent with gel/fluid phase coexistence instead of the fluid/fluid phase separation observed in native surfactant, illustrating the crucial role of cholesterol in modulating lateral membrane structure. Pictures *a-d* taken from [32], e) Epifluorescence microscopy picture *d* from Bernardino de la Serna, Bagatolli and Perez-Gil. e) Epifluorescence microscopy image taken from a native pulmonary surfactant film compressed to 37 mN/m, showing segregation of condensed domains excluding a NBD-PC lipid probe. f) AFM image illustrating the nanoscopic structure of a condensed nanodomains when observed under AFM (Antonio Cruz, David Schurch, Luis Vazquez, J. Perez-Gil, unpublished).

of temperature above a certain threshold caused melting of a substantial fraction of the liquid-ordered phase, supporting the idea that a sufficient proportion of saturated lipids with a melting transition above physiological temperature is strictly required as a basis for lateral segregation of phases in surfactant membranes. Removal of cholesterol also caused a major effect in the lateral membrane structure, promoting the change from an entirely fluid ordered/ disordered coexistence into a gel/fluid-disordered type of segregation [32,187]. Cholesterol, therefore, seems to be an important determinant modulating phase behaviour, fluidity and dynamics in surfactant membranes. To what extent the presence of certain amounts of cholesterol contributes to optimize the functional performance of surfactant under the particular environmental conditions of the alveolar spaces, has still to be fully explored. In several animal models that have been studied, the level of cholesterol in surfactant seems to be a factor involved in physiologically-regulated responses to environmental challenges [188–191]. On the other hand, abnormally high levels of neutral lipids have been found in poorly surface active surfactant obtained from acute distress syndrome patients [192], suggesting a deleterious effect of cholesterol on surfactant function. Mechanisms of adaptation of the surfactant system to challenging environmental conditions could include concerted changes of the proportion of cholesterol from or to alveolar reservoirs, as demonstrated in other air-breathing animals [190]. Determination of the real existence of such potential cholesterol alveolar reservoirs, as well as the nature of the molecular sensors supposedly connecting the alteration of breathing performance with adaptations of surfactant composition, is a challenging task. The increase in cholesterol could therefore be a consequence rather than a cause of a poorly-performing surfactant system. Proteins do not seem to play a major role in modulating the lateral structure of surfactant membranes, but show a non-homogeneous distribution based on their lipid phase partition properties. As said, SP-B and SP-C have been shown to segregate into the fluid-disordered regions of the membranes. The lateral distribution of SP-A has not been directly visualized, but some indirect evidence indicates that this protein would prefer to interact with ordered phases [57,61,63]. The lipid phase "scaffold" of surfactant membranes could then be a major determinant to initiate or coordinate the threedimensional organization of membranes in surfactant structures via lipid-protein and protein-protein interactions. An important consequence extracted from these studies is that a minimum level of lipid complexity may be important in surfactant to provide the proper level of structural complexity. Surfactant preparations containing an excess of saturated phospholipids, too high electrostatic charge, or exacerbated proportions of cholesterol could be far from optimized even in the presence of substantial levels of proteins, especially under the environmental conditions of the alveolar spaces.

Segregation of different lipid- and protein-containing regions in interfacial surfactant films has previously been analyzed long ago, as compression was well known to be a major determinant of lateral organization. From the earliest experiments applying epifluorescence microscopy to the observation of interfacial lipid and lipid-protein films, it became clear that the ability of different films to reach the lowest compression-driven surface tensions was related with their propensity to achieve a highly packed condensed lateral structure upon compression [34,35,102]. Lateral condensation of simple films composed of DPPC or very simple binary or ternary combinations of DPPC and other lipid and protein species have been characterized in detail [34,35,69,71,81,97,102,106]. Lateral transitions in much more complex films, such as those formed by whole pulmonary surfactant or its organic extract have been studied in much less detail, and usually in a rather qualitative way. Compression of full complex surfactant films produce segregation of small apparently fluidordered domains [37,177], likely enriched in DPPC and cholesterol, and presumably excluding hydrophobic surfactant proteins SP-B and SP-C. This segregation occurs at pressures preceding those where the plateau originates in the isotherm, which is associated with threedimensional folding transitions occurring in the films, suggesting that lateral sorting of lipid and protein components might be an important feature in defining a proper compression-driven behaviour. Segregation of ordered/disordered phases in full surfactant films is critically dependent on temperature [187], as occurs in surfactant membranes [32], but melting temperature of interfacial films could be a few degrees higher than that of bilayers [2]. Lipid composition in pulmonary surfactant could have therefore been optimized to provide phase transitions close enough to the physiological temperature, in such a way that membranes would be mostly fluid and disordered, and in consequence highly dynamic, while interfacial films could still support enough proportion of ordered phases to sustain the mechanical stability required to maintain proper breathing. In the recent years, the lateral structure of pulmonary surfactant membranes and films has been also extensively studied by atomic force microscopy (AFM), a technique providing resolution at a nanoscopic level, in the absence of spurious probes. Observations by AFM have given access to the analysis of a level of complexity at the nanometer scale in lateral organization that was not available before, confirming that lipids and proteins in surfactant are far from being homogeneously distributed also in membranes [32] and interfacial films [193]. The importance of this nanoscopic organization for the rheological properties and the functional activities of surfactant is only starting to be appreciated.

However, structural studies of the lateral organization of surfactant membranes and films could still provide only a very simplified picture of the real situation. As stated above, surfactant surface structure, as it is disposed in the thin water layer of the alveolar epithelium, could be much more complex than a single monolayer in a surface balance or a single bilayer in a giant liposome. The characterization of the actual lateral organization of lipids and proteins in the multilayer-like polymorphic three-dimensional structure of surfactant as it is interconnecting the whole subphase with the gas phase supposes a technical challenge that will have to be approached, possibly through new still-to-come methodological developments, before understanding the ultimate structure–function correlations of the system.

7. An integrated model of pulmonary surfactant structure at the alveolar spaces

Fig. 9 illustrates an integrated view of how pulmonary surfactant could develop a sort of membrane surface phase covering the respiratory surface. The term "surface phase" was first suggested by the group of Larsson [181,194], to point out that pulmonary surfactant should not be seen as a purely interfacial film at the air-liquid interface but as a complete structure developed in the aqueous lining layer as a whole. From our point of view, this is certainly an appropriate way to interpret surfactant membrane-based polymorphism at the alveolar airspaces, but in a much more complex view than discussed by Larsson et al. Part of pulmonary surfactant properties could come from a sophisticated pre-loaded structure, as assembled in the pneumocyte, with the potential to develop a complex polymorphism once secreted into the extracellular medium. But besides that, surfactant structures could be poised to integrate lipid-protein entities liberated into the airways from different origins and modulated by different environmental and physiological determinants. Just this complex biological "phase", developed as a three-dimensional film at the respiratory surface, could be competent to sustain simultaneously proper respiratory gas exchange, mechanical stabilization under the dynamic conditions imposed by breathing, and protection against pathogenic invaders. The disruption of such a complex structure that is likely associated with lung injury could have many more consequences than a mere impairment of the ability of surfactant to produce very low surface tensions. A global comprehension of structurefunction determinants in pulmonary surfactant three-dimensional



Fig. 9. Cartoon illustrating how pulmonary surfactant could be responsible for establishing a *membrane surface phase* at the respiratory surface. The thin aqueous layer covering alveoli would be saturated of multiple interconnected membrane structures, including secreted lamellar bodies, tubular myelin and multilayered films. The whole surface phase should be envisaged as a unique structure, simultaneously optimizing respiratory gas exchange, surface physical stabilization and defence against pathogens.

films is still required before therapeutic use of clinical surfactants might have reasonable chances of success in the treatment of complex pathologies associated with lung injury.

Acknowledgements

I am very grateful to Dr. Mercedes Echaide, from Universidad Complutense, for valuable assistance in the preparation of the manuscript. Research in the laboratory of the author is funded by grants from Spanish Ministry of Science (BIO2006-03130, CSD2007-00010) and Community of Madrid (P-MAT-000283-0505), and Marie Curie Networks EST-007931 and RTN-512229 from European Commission.

References

- C.B. Daniels, S. Orgeig, Pulmonary surfactant: the key to the evolution of air breathing, News Physiol. Sci. 18 (2003) 151–157.
- [2] S. Orgeig, W. Bernhard, S.C. Biswas, C.B. Daniels, S.B. Hall, S.K. Hetz, C.J. Lang, J.M. Maina, A.K. Panda, J. Perez-Gil, F. Possmayer, R. veldhuizen, W. Yan, The anatomy, physics, and physiology of gas exchange surfaces: is there a universal function for pulmonary surfactant in animal respiratory structures? Integr. Comp. Biol. 47 (2007) 610–627.
- [3] A.G. Serrano, J. Perez-Gil, Protein-lipid interactions and surface activity in the pulmonary surfactant system, Chem. Phys. Lipids 141 (2006) 105–118.
- [4] Y. Kuroki, M. Takahashi, C. Nishitani, Pulmonary collectins in innate immunity of the lung, Cell. Microbiol. 9 (2007) 1871–1879.
- [5] J.R. Wright, Immunoregulatory functions of surfactant proteins, Nat. Rev. Immunol. 5 (2005) 58–68.
- [6] D.J. Wegner, T. Hertzberg, H.B. Heins, G. Elmberger, M.J. MacCoss, C.S. Carlson, L.M. Nogee, F.S. Cole, A. Hamvas, A major deletion in the surfactant protein-B gene causing lethal respiratory distress, Acta Paediatr. 96 (2007) 516–520.
- [7] W.E. Lawson, V.V. Polosukhin, G.T. Stathopoulos, O. Zoia, W. Han, K.B. Lane, B. Li, E.F. Donnelly, G.E. Holburn, K.G. Lewis, R.D. Collins, W.M. Hull, S.W. Glasser, J.A. Whitsett, T.S. Blackwell, Increased and prolonged pulmonary fibrosis in surfactant protein C-deficient mice following intratracheal bleomycin, Am. J. Pathol. 167 (2005) 1267–1277.
- [8] L.M. Nogee, G. Garnier, H.C. Dietz, L. Singer, A.M. Murphy, D.E. deMello, H.R. Colten, A mutation in the surfactant protein B gene responsible for fatal neonatal respiratory disease in multiple kindreds, J. Clin. Invest. 93 (1994) 1860–1863.
- [9] LJ. Zimmermann, D.J. Janssen, D. Tibboel, A. Hamvas, V.P. Carnielli, Surfactant metabolism in the neonate, Biol. Neonate 87 (2005) 296–307.
- [10] J.D. Merrill, R.A. Ballard, Pulmonary surfactant for neonatal respiratory disorders, Curr. Opin. Pediatr. 15 (2003) 149–154.
- [11] K.J. Bosma, J.F. Lewis, Emerging therapies for treatment of acute lung injury and Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome, Expert. Opin. Emerg. Drugs 12 (2007) 461–477.
- [12] T.P. Stevens, R.A. Sinkin, Surfactant replacement therapy, Chest 131 (2007) 1577–1582.
- [13] J.F. Lewis, R. Veldhuizen, The role of exogenous surfactant in the treatment of acute lung injury, Annu. Rev. Physiol. 65 (2003) 613–642.
- [14] O. Blanco, J. Perez-Gil, Biochemical and pharmacological differences between preparations of exogenous natural surfactant used to treat Respiratory Distress Syndrome: role of the different components in an efficient pulmonary surfactant, Eur. J. Pharmacol. 568 (2007) 1–15.
- [15] I. Mingarro, D. Lukovic, J. Perez-Gil, Synthetic pulmonary surfactant preparations: new developments and future trends, Curr. Med. Chem. 15 (2008) 393–403.
- [16] F.J. Walther, A.J. Waring, M.A. Sherman, J.A. Zasadzinski, L.M. Gordon, Hydrophobic surfactant proteins and their analogues, Neonatology 91 (2007) 303–310.
- [17] R. Wustneck, J. Perez-Gil, N. Wustneck, A. Cruz, V.B. Fainerman, U. Pison, Interfacial properties of pulmonary surfactant layers, Adv. Colloid. Interface Sci. 117 (2005) 33–58.
- [18] P. Dietl, T. Haller, Exocytosis of lung surfactant: from the secretory vesicle to the air-liquid interface, Annu. Rev. Physiol. 67 (2005) 595–621.
- [19] J. Perez-Gil, K.M. Keough, Interfacial properties of surfactant proteins, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1408 (1998) 203–217.
- [20] T.E. Weaver, C.L. Na, M. Stahlman, Biogenesis of lamellar bodies, lysosome-related organelles involved in storage and secretion of pulmonary surfactant, Semin. Cell. Dev. Biol. 13 (2002) 263–270.
- [21] T. Curstedt, J. Johansson, New synthetic surfactants—basic science, Biol. Neonate 87 (2005) 332–337.
- [22] J. Goerke, Pulmonary surfactant: functions and molecular composition, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1408 (1998) 79–89.
- [23] R. Veldhuizen, K. Nag, S. Orgeig, F. Possmayer, The role of lipids in pulmonary surfactant, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1408 (1998) 90–108.
- [24] A.M. Brackenbury, J.L. Malloy, L.A. McCaig, L.J. Yao, R.A. Veldhuizen, J.F. Lewis, Evaluation of alveolar surfactant aggregates in vitro and in vivo, Eur. Respir. J. 19 (2002) 41–46.
- [25] N.J. Gross, K.R. Narine, Surfactant subtypes in mice: characterization and quantitation, J. Appl. Physiol. 66 (1989) 342–349.

- [26] R.A. Veldhuizen, J. Marcou, LJ. Yao, L. McCaig, Y. Ito, J.F. Lewis, Alveolar surfactant aggregate conversion in ventilated normal and injured rabbits, Am. J. Physiol. 270 (1996) L152–158.
- [27] M.W. Hawco, P.J. Davis, K.M. Keough, Lipid fluidity in lung surfactant: monolayers of saturated and unsaturated lecithins, J. Appl. Physiol. 51 (1981) 509–515.
 [28] M.W. Hawco, K.P. Coolbear, P.J. Davis, K.M. Keough, Exclusion of fluid lipid
- [28] M.W. Hawco, K.P. Coolbear, P.J. Davis, K.M. Keough, Exclusion of fluid lipid during compression of monolayers of mixtures of dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine with some other phosphatidylcholines, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 646 (1981) 185–187.
- [29] E.C. Smith, J.M. Crane, T.G. Laderas, S.B. Hall, Metastability of a supercompressed fluid monolayer, Biophys. J. 85 (2003) 3048–3057.
- [30] C.J. Lang, A.D. Postle, S. Orgeig, F. Possmayer, W. Bernhard, A.K. Panda, K.D. Jurgens, W.K. Milsom, K. Nag, C.B. Daniels, Dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine is not the major surfactant phospholipid species in all mammals, Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 289 (2005) R1426–1439.
- [31] P.J. Davis, B.D. Fleming, K.P. Coolbear, K.M. Keough, Gel to liquid-crystalline transition temperatures of water dispersions of two pairs of positional isomers of unsaturated mixed-acid phosphatidylcholines, Biochemistry 20 (1981) 3633–3636.
- [32] J. Bernardino de la Serna, J. Perez-Gil, A.C. Simonsen, L.A. Bagatolli, Cholesterol rules: direct observation of the coexistence of two fluid phases in native pulmonary surfactant membranes at physiological temperatures, J. Biol. Chem. 279 (2004) 40715–40722.
- [33] T. Heimburg, A.D. Jackson, On soliton propagation in biomembranes and nerves, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 102 (2005) 9790–9795.
- [34] K. Nag, K.M. Keough, Epifluorescence microscopic studies of monolayers containing mixtures of dioleoyl- and dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholines, Biophys. J. 65 (1993) 1019–1026.
- [35] K. Nag, C. Boland, N. Rich, K.M. Keough, Epifluorescence microscopic observation of monolayers of dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine: dependence of domain size on compression rates, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1068 (1991) 157–160.
- [36] R.C. MacDonald, S.A. Simon, Lipid monolayer states and their relationships to bilayers, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 84 (1987) 4089–4093.
- [37] B.M. Discher, K.M. Maloney, W.R. Schief, D.W. Grainger, V. Vogel, S.B. Hall, Lateral phase separation in interfacial films of pulmonary surfactant, Biophys. J. 71 (1996) 2583–2590.
- [38] L.A. Bagatolli, To see or not to see: lateral organization of biological membranes and fluorescence microscopy, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1758 (2006) 1541–1556.
- [39] A. Filippov, G. Oradd, G. Lindblom, Lipid lateral diffusion in ordered and disordered phases in raft mixtures, Biophys. J. 86 (2004) 891–896.
- [40] N. Kahya, D. Scherfeld, K. Bacia, B. Poolman, P. Schwille, Probing lipid mobility of raft-exhibiting model membranes by fluorescence correlation spectroscopy, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (2003) 28109–28115.
- [41] L.A. Worthman, K. Nag, P.J. Davis, K.M. Keough, Cholesterol in condensed and fluid phosphatidylcholine monolayers studied by epifluorescence microscopy, Biophys. J. 72 (1997) 2569–2580.
- [42] J. Johansson, T. Curstedt, Molecular structures and interactions of pulmonary surfactant components, Eur. J. Biochem. 244 (1997) 675–693.
- [43] E. Crouch, J.R. Wright, Surfactant proteins a and d and pulmonary host defense, Annu. Rev. Physiol. 63 (2001) 521–554.
- [44] E.C. Crouch, Structure, biologic properties, and expression of surfactant protein D (SP-D), Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1408 (1998) 278–289.
- [45] S. Hawgood, F.R. Poulain, The pulmonary collectins and surfactant metabolism, Annu. Rev. Physiol. 63 (2001) 495–519.
- [46] S. Heinrich, D. Hartl, M. Griese, Surfactant protein A–from genes to human lung diseases, Curr. Med. Chem. 13 (2006) 3239–3252.
- [47] H.P. Haagsman, Structural and functional aspects of the collectin SP-A, Immunobiology 205 (2002) 476–489.
- [48] C. Casals, Role of surfactant protein A (SP-A)/lipid interactions for SP-A functions in the lung, Pediatr. Pathol. Mol. Med. 20 (2001) 249–268.
- [49] J.F. Head, T.R. Mealy, F.X. McCormack, B.A. Seaton, Crystal structure of trimeric carbohydrate recognition and neck domains of surfactant protein A, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (2003) 43254–43260.
- [50] P.S. Kingma, J.A. Whitsett, In defense of the lung: surfactant protein A and surfactant protein D, Curr. Opin. Pharmacol. 6 (2006) 277–283.
 [51] V.J. Erpenbeck, D.C. Malherbe, S. Sommer, A. Schmiedl, W. Steinhilber, A.J. Ghio, N.
- [51] V.J. Erpenbeck, D.C. Malherbe, S. Sommer, A. Schmiedl, W. Steinhilber, A.J. Ghio, N. Krug, J.R. Wright, J.M. Hohlfeld, Surfactant protein D increases phagocytosis and aggregation of pollen-allergen starch granules, Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell Mol. Physiol. 288 (2005) L692–698.
- [52] K. Kudo, H. Sano, H. Takahashi, K. Kuronuma, S. Yokota, N. Fujii, K. Shimada, I. Yano, Y. Kumazawa, D.R. Voelker, S. Abe, Y. Kuroki, Pulmonary collectins enhance phagocytosis of *Mycobacterium avium* through increased activity of mannose receptor, J. Immunol. 172 (2004) 7592–7602.
- [53] H. Sano, K. Kuronuma, K. Kudo, H. Mitsuzawa, M. Sato, S. Murakami, Y. Kuroki, Regulation of inflammation and bacterial clearance by lung collectins, Respirology 11 (2006) S46–50 Suppl.
- [54] N. Palaniyar, M. Ikegami, T. Korfhagen, J. Whitsett, F.X. McCormack, Domains of surfactant protein A that affect protein oligomerization, lipid structure and surface tension, Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A. Mol. Integr. Physiol. 129 (2001) 109–127.
- [55] N. Palaniyar, R.A. Ridsdale, F. Possmayer, G. Harauz, Surfactant protein A (SP-A) forms a novel supraquaternary structure in the form of fibers, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 250 (1998) 131–136.
- [56] F. Sanchez-Barbero, J. Strassner, R. Garcia-Canero, W. Steinhilber, C. Casals, Role of the degree of oligomerization in the structure and function of human surfactant protein A, J. Biol. Chem. 280 (2005) 7659–7670.

- [57] L.A. Worthman, K. Nag, N. Rich, M.L. Ruano, C. Casals, J. Perez-Gil, K.M. Keough, Pulmonary surfactant protein A interacts with gel-like regions in monolayers of pulmonary surfactant lipid extract, Biophys. J. 79 (2000) 2657–2666.
- [58] M.L. Ruano, E. Miguel, J. Perez-Gil, C. Casals, Comparison of lipid aggregation and self-aggregation activities of pulmonary surfactant-associated protein A, Biochem. J. 313 (Pt 2) (1996) 683–689.
- [59] M.R. Morrow, N. Abu-Libdeh, J. Stewart, K.M. Keough, Interaction of pulmonary surfactant protein SP-A with DPPC/egg-PG bilayers, Biophys. J. 85 (2003) 2397–2405.
- [60] N. Palaniyar, F.X. McCormack, F. Possmayer, G. Harauz, Three-dimensional structure of rat surfactant protein A trimers in association with phospholipid monolayers, Biochemistry 39 (2000) 6310–6316.
- [61] C. Casals, E. Miguel, J. Perez-Gil, Tryptophan fluorescence study on the interaction of pulmonary surfactant protein A with phospholipid vesicles, Biochem. J. 296 (Pt 3) (1993) 585–593.
- [62] A. Saenz, G. Rubio, M. Martinez-Moreno, I. Rodriguez-Crespo, C. Casals, Lipid rafts as platforms for binding surfactant protein A to lung surfactant and cellular membranes, Chem. Phys. Lipids 143 (2006) 73–74.
- [63] M.L. Ruano, K. Nag, L.A. Worthman, C. Casals, J. Perez-Gil, K.M. Keough, Differential partitioning of pulmonary surfactant protein SP-A into regions of monolayers of dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine and dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine/dipalmitoylphosphatidylglycerol, Biophys. J. 74 (1998) 1101–1109.
- [64] J.C. Clark, S.E. Wert, C.J. Bachurski, M.T. Stahlman, B.R. Stripp, T.E. Weaver, J.A. Whitsett, Targeted disruption of the surfactant protein B gene disrupts surfactant homeostasis, causing respiratory failure in newborn mice, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 92 (1995) 7794–7798.
- [65] K.R. Melton, L.L. Nesslein, M. Ikegami, J.W. Tichelaar, J.C. Clark, J.A. Whitsett, T.E. Weaver, SP-B deficiency causes respiratory failure in adult mice, Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell Mol. Physiol. 285 (2003) L543–549.
- [66] L.M. Nogee, Alterations in SP-B and SP-C expression in neonatal lung disease, Annu. Rev. Physiol. 66 (2004) 601–623.
- [67] C.D. Foster, P.X. Zhang, L.W. Gonzales, S.H. Guttentag, In vitro surfactant protein B deficiency inhibits lamellar body formation, Am. J. Respir. Cell. Mol. Biol. 29 (2003) 259–266.
- [68] M.T. Stahlman, M.P. Gray, M.W. Falconieri, J.A. Whitsett, T.E. Weaver, Lamellar body formation in normal and surfactant protein B-deficient fetal mice, Lab. Invest. 80 (2000) 395–403.
- [69] A. Cruz, L.A. Worthman, A.G. Serrano, C. Casals, K.M. Keough, J. Perez-Gil, Microstructure and dynamic surface properties of surfactant protein SP-B/ dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine interfacial films spread from lipid–protein bilayers, Eur. Biophys. J. 29 (2000) 204–213.
- [70] A.G. Serrano, M. Ryan, T.E. Weaver, J. Perez-Gil, Critical structure-function determinants within the N-terminal region of pulmonary surfactant protein SP-B, Biophys. J. 90 (2006) 238–249.
- [71] Z. Wang, O. Gurel, J.E. Baatz, R.H. Notter, Differential activity and lack of synergy of lung surfactant proteins SP-B and SP-C in interactions with phospholipids, J. Lipid Res. 37 (1996) 1749–1760.
- [72] L. Patthy, Homology of the precursor of pulmonary surfactant-associated protein SP-B with prosaposin and sulfated glycoprotein 1, J. Biol. Chem. 266 (1991) 6035–6037.
- [73] T.E. Weaver, Synthesis, processing and secretion of surfactant proteins B and C, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1408 (1998) 173–179.
- [74] A. Cruz, C. Casals, I. Plasencia, D. Marsh, J. Perez-Gil, Depth profiles of pulmonary surfactant protein B in phosphatidylcholine bilayers, studied by fluorescence and electron spin resonance spectroscopy, Biochemistry 37 (1998) 9488–9496.
- [75] M.R. Morrow, J. Perez-Gil, G. Simatos, C. Boland, J. Stewart, D. Absolom, V. Sarin, K.M. Keough, Pulmonary surfactant-associated protein SP-B has little effect on acyl chains in dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine dispersions, Biochemistry 32 (1993) 4397–4402.
- [76] G. Vandenbussche, A. Clercx, M. Clercx, T. Curstedt, J. Johansson, H. Jornvall, J.M. Ruysschaert, Secondary structure and orientation of the surfactant protein SP-B in a lipid environment. A Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy study, Biochemistry 31 (1992) 9169–9176.
- [77] J. Perez-Gil, C. Casals, D. Marsh, Interactions of hydrophobic lung surfactant proteins SP-B and SP-C with dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine and dipalmitoylphosphatidylglycerol bilayers studied by electron spin resonance spectroscopy, Biochemistry 34 (1995) 3964–3971.
- [78] D. Breitenstein, J.J. Batenburg, B. Hagenhoff, H.J. Galla, Lipid specificity of surfactant protein B studied by time-of-flight secondary ion mass spectrometry, Biophys. J. 91 (2006) 1347–1356.
- [79] J. Perez-Gil, Comment to the Editor: interpreting properly lipid-protein specificities in pulmonary surfactant, Biophys. J. 94 (2008) 1542–1543.
- [80] M. Seifert, D. Breitenstein, U. Klenz, M.C. Meyer, H.J. Galla, Solubility versus electrostatics: what determines lipid/protein interaction in lung surfactant, Biophys. J. 93 (2007) 1192–1203.
- [81] K. Nag, S.G. Taneva, J. Perez-Gil, A. Cruz, K.M. Keough, Combinations of fluorescently labeled pulmonary surfactant proteins SP-B and SP-C in phospholipid films, Biophys. J. 72 (1997) 2638–2650.
- [82] R. Chang, S. Nir, F.R. Poulain, Analysis of binding and membrane destabilization of phospholipid membranes by surfactant apoprotein B, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1371 (1998) 254–264.
- [83] M.A. Ryan, X. Qi, A.G. Serrano, M. Ikegami, J. Perez-Gil, J. Johansson, T.E. Weaver, Mapping and analysis of the lytic and fusogenic domains of surfactant protein B, Biochemistry 44 (2005) 861–872.
- [84] L.A. Creuwels, L.M. van Golde, H.P. Haagsman, Surfactant protein B: effects on lipid domain formation and intermembrane lipid flow, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1285 (1996) 1–8.

- [85] M.A. Oosterlaken-Dijksterhuis, M. van Eijk, L.M. van Golde, H.P. Haagsman, Lipid mixing is mediated by the hydrophobic surfactant protein SP-B but not by SP-C, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1110 (1992) 45–50.
- [86] F.R. Poulain, S. Nir, S. Hawgood, Kinetics of phospholipid membrane fusion induced by surfactant apoproteins A and B, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1278 (1996) 169–175.
- [87] V. Schram, S.B. Hall, Thermodynamic effects of the hydrophobic surfactant proteins on the early adsorption of pulmonary surfactant, Biophys. J. 81 (2001) 1536–1546.
- [88] S.W. Glasser, T.R. Korfhagen, M.D. Bruno, C. Dey, J.A. Whitsett, Structure and expression of the pulmonary surfactant protein SP-C gene in the mouse, J. Biol. Chem. 265 (1990) 21986–21991.
- [89] B.A. Hyatt, E.R. Resnik, N.S. Johnson, J.L. Lohr, D.N. Cornfield, Lung specific developmental expression of the *Xenopus laevis* surfactant protein C and B genes, Gene Expr. Patterns 7 (2007) 8–14.
- [90] S.W. Glasser, M.S. Burhans, T.R. Korfhagen, C.L. Na, P.D. Sly, G.F. Ross, M. Ikegami, J.A. Whitsett, Altered stability of pulmonary surfactant in SP-C-deficient mice, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 98 (2001) 6366–6371.
- [91] S.W. Glasser, E.A. Detmer, M. Ikegami, C.L. Na, M.T. Stahlman, J.A. Whitsett, Pneumonitis and emphysema in sp-C gene targeted mice, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (2003) 14291–14298.
- [92] M.F. Beers, S. Mulugeta, Surfactant protein C biosynthesis and its emerging role in conformational lung disease, Annu. Rev. Physiol. 67 (2005) 663–696.
- [93] J. Johansson, T. Szyperski, T. Curstedt, K. Wuthrich, The NMR structure of the pulmonary surfactant-associated polypeptide SP-C in an apolar solvent contains a valyl-rich alpha-helix, Biochemistry 33 (1994) 6015–6023.
- [94] G. Vandenbussche, A. Clercx, T. Curstedt, J. Johansson, H. Jornvall, J.M. Ruysschaert, Structure and orientation of the surfactant-associated protein C in a lipid bilayer, Eur. J. Biochem. 203 (1992) 201–209.
- [95] A. Keller, H.R. Eistetter, T. Voss, K.P. Schafer, The pulmonary surfactant protein C (SP-C) precursor is a type II transmembrane protein, Biochem. J. 277 (Pt 2) (1991) 493–499.
- [96] A. Gericke, C.R. Flach, R. Mendelsohn, Structure and orientation of lung surfactant SP-C and L-alpha-dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine in aqueous monolayers, Biophys. J. 73 (1997) 492–499.
- [97] K. Nag, J. Perez-Gil, A. Cruz, K.M. Keough, Fluorescently labeled pulmonary surfactant protein C in spread phospholipid monolayers, Biophys. J. 71 (1996) 246–256.
- [98] L.A. Creuwels, E.H. Boer, R.A. Demel, L.M. van Golde, H.P. Haagsman, Neutralization of the positive charges of surfactant protein C. Effects on structure and function, J. Biol. Chem. 270 (1995) 16225–16229.
- [99] M. Ross, S. Krol, A. Janshoff, H.J. Galla, Kinetics of phospholipid insertion into monolayers containing the lung surfactant proteins SP-B or SP-C, Eur. Biophys. J. 31 (2002) 52–61.
- [100] M.A. Oosterlaken-Dijksterhuis, H.P. Haagsman, L.M. van Golde, R.A. Demel, Characterization of lipid insertion into monomolecular layers mediated by lung surfactant proteins SP-B and SP-C, Biochemistry 30 (1991) 10965–10971.
- [101] D. Lukovic, I. Plasencia, F.J. Taberner, J. Salgado, J.J. Calvete, J. Perez-Gil, I. Mingarro, Production and characterisation of recombinant forms of human pulmonary surfactant protein C (SP-C): structure and surface activity, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1758 (2006) 509–518.
- [102] J. Perez-Gil, J. Tucker, G. Simatos, K.M. Keough, Interfacial adsorption of simple lipid mixtures combined with hydrophobic surfactant protein from pig lung, Biochem. Cell. Biol. 70 (1992) 332–338.
- [103] I. Plasencia, A. Cruz, C. Casals, J. Perez-Gil, Superficial disposition of the Nterminal region of the surfactant protein SP-C and the absence of specific SP-B–SP-C interactions in phospholipid bilayers, Biochem. J. 359 (2001) 651–659.
- [104] I. Plasencia, L. Rivas, C. Casals, K.M. Keough, J. Perez-Gil, Intrinsic structural differences in the N-terminal segment of pulmonary surfactant protein SP-C from different species, Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A. Mol. Integr. Physiol. 129 (2001) 129–139.
- [105] I. Plasencia, L. Rivas, K.M. Keough, D. Marsh, J. Perez-Gil, The N-terminal segment of pulmonary surfactant lipopeptide SP-C has intrinsic propensity to interact with and perturb phospholipid bilayers, Biochem. J. 377 (2004) 183–193.
- [106] I. Plasencia, K.M. Keough, J. Perez-Gil, Interaction of the N-terminal segment of pulmonary surfactant protein SP-C with interfacial phospholipid films, Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 1713 (2005) 118–128.
- [107] M. Amrein, A. von Nahmen, M. Sieber, A scanning force- and fluorescence light microscopy study of the structure and function of a model pulmonary surfactant, Eur. Biophys. J. 26 (1997) 349–357.
- [108] A. von Nahmen, M. Schenk, M. Sieber, M. Amrein, The structure of a model pulmonary surfactant as revealed by scanning force microscopy, Biophys. J. 72 (1997) 463–469.
- [109] I. Plasencia, F. Baumgart, D. Andreu, D. Marsh, J. Perez-Gil, Effect of acylation on the interaction of the N-terminal segment of pulmonary surfactant protein SP-C with phospholipid membranes, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1778 (2008) 1274–1284.
- [110] X. Bi, C.R. Flach, J. Perez-Gil, I. Plasencia, D. Andreu, E. Oliveira, R. Mendelsohn, Secondary structure and lipid interactions of the N-terminal segment of pulmonary surfactant SP-C in Langmuir films: IR reflection-absorption spectroscopy and surface pressure studies, Biochemistry 41 (2002) 8385–8395.
- [111] S. Taneva, K.M. Keough, Pulmonary surfactant proteins SP-B and SP-C in spread monolayers at the air-water interface: II. Monolayers of pulmonary surfactant protein SP-C and phospholipids, Biophys. J. 66 (1994) 1149–1157.
- [112] M.F. Beers, Inhibition of cellular processing of surfactant protein C by drugs affecting intracellular pH gradients, J. Biol. Chem. 271 (1996) 14361–14370.

- [113] S. Guttentag, L. Robinson, P. Zhang, F. Brasch, F. Buhling, M. Beers, Cysteine protease activity is required for surfactant protein B processing and lamellar body genesis, Am. J. Respir. Cell. Mol. Biol. 28 (2003) 69–79.
- [114] S. Lin, H.T. Akinbi, J.S. Breslin, T.E. Weaver, Structural requirements for targeting of surfactant protein B (SP-B) to secretory granules in vitro and in vivo, J. Biol. Chem. 271 (1996) 19689–19695.
- [115] W.E. Bakewell, C.J. Viviano, D. Dixon, G.J. Smith, G.E. Hook, Confocal laser scanning immunofluorescence microscopy of lamellar bodies and pulmonary surfactant protein A in isolated alveolar type II cells, Lab. Invest. 65 (1991) 87–95.
- [116] M. Ochs, G. Johnen, K.M. Muller, T. Wahlers, S. Hawgood, J. Richter, F. Brasch, Intracellular and intraalveolar localization of surfactant protein A (SP-A) in the parenchymal region of the human lung, Am. J. Respir. Cell. Mol. Biol. 26 (2002) 91–98.
- [117] H. Wissel, A. Lehfeldt, P. Klein, T. Muller, P.A. Stevens, Endocytosed SP-A and surfactant lipids are sorted to different organelles in rat type II pneumocytes, Am. J. Physiol. Lung. Cell. Mol. Physiol. 281 (2001) L345–360.
- [118] A.G. Serrano, E.J. Cabre, J. Perez-Gil, Identification of a segment in the precursor of pulmonary surfactant protein SP-B, potentially involved in pH-dependent membrane assembly of the protein, Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 1768 (2007) 1059–1069.
- [119] J.U. Balis, J.F. Paterson, J.E. Paciga, E.M. Haller, S.A. Shelley, Distribution and subcellular localization of surfactant-associated glycoproteins in human lung, Lab. Invest. 52 (1985) 657–669.
- [120] J.R. Wright, Clearance and recycling of pulmonary surfactant, Am. J. Physiol. 259 (1990) L1–12.
- [121] D.K. Vorbroker, S.A. Profitt, L.M. Nogee, J.A. Whitsett, Aberrant processing of surfactant protein C in hereditary SP-B deficiency, Am. J. Physiol. 268 (1995) L647–656.
- [122] A. Cruz, C. Casals, K.M. Keough, J. Perez-Gil, Different modes of interaction of pulmonary surfactant protein SP-B in phosphatidylcholine bilayers, Biochem. J. 327 (Pt 1) (1997) 133–138.
- [123] M.L. Ruano, J. Perez-Gil, C. Casals, Effect of acidic pH on the structure and lipid binding properties of porcine surfactant protein A. Potential role of acidification along its exocytic pathway, J. Biol. Chem. 273 (1998) 15183–15191.
- [124] K. Hollenstein, R.J. Dawson, K.P. Locher, Structure and mechanism of ABC transporter proteins, Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 17 (2007) 412–418.
- [125] K.J. Linton, Structure and function of ABC transporters, Physiology (Bethesda) 22 (2007) 122–130.
- [126] D.L. Daleke, Phospholipid flippases, J. Biol. Chem. 282 (2007) 821–825.
- [127] P.F. Devaux, I. Lopez-Montero, S. Bryde, Proteins involved in lipid translocation in eukaryotic cells, Chem. Phys. Lipids 141 (2006) 119–132.
- [128] W.T. Doerrler, Lipid trafficking to the outer membrane of Gram-negative bacteria, Mol. Microbiol. 60 (2006) 542–552.
- [129] N. Cheong, H. Zhang, M. Madesh, M. Zhao, K. Yu, C. Dodia, A.B. Fisher, R.C. Savani, H. Shuman, ABCA3 is critical for lamellar body biogenesis in vivo, J. Biol. Chem. 282 (2007) 23811–23817.
- [130] S. Shulenin, L.M. Nogee, T. Annilo, S.E. Wert, J.A. Whitsett, M. Dean, ABCA3 gene mutations in newborns with fatal surfactant deficiency, N. Engl. J. Med. 350 (2004) 1296–1303.
- [131] N. Ban, Y. Matsumura, H. Sakai, Y. Takanezawa, M. Sasaki, H. Arai, N. Inagaki, ABCA3 as a lipid transporter in pulmonary surfactant biogenesis, J. Biol. Chem. 282 (2007) 9628–9634.
- [132] S. Mulugeta, J.M. Gray, K.L. Notarfrancesco, L.W. Gonzales, M. Koval, S.I. Feinstein, P.L. Ballard, A.B. Fisher, H. Shuman, Identification of LBM180, a lamellar body limiting membrane protein of alveolar type II cells, as the ABC transporter protein ABCA3, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 22147–22155.
- [133] N. Cheong, M. Madesh, L.W. Gonzales, M. Zhao, K. Yu, P.L. Ballard, H. Shuman, Functional and trafficking defects in ATP binding cassette A3 mutants associated with Respiratory Distress Syndrome, J. Biol. Chem. 281 (2006) 9791–9800.
- [134] E.M. Bevers, P. Comfurius, D.W. Dekkers, R.F. Zwaal, Lipid translocation across the plasma membrane of mammalian cells, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1439 (1999) 317–330.
- [135] M.A. Kol, A. van Dalen, A.I. de Kroon, B. de Kruijff, Translocation of phospholipids is facilitated by a subset of membrane-spanning proteins of the bacterial cytoplasmic membrane, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (2003) 24586–24593.
- [136] T. Pomorski, A.K. Menon, Lipid flippases and their biological functions, Cell Mol. Life Sci. 63 (2006) 2908–2921.
- [137] D. Kamp, T. Sieberg, C.W. Haest, Inhibition and stimulation of phospholipid scrambling activity. Consequences for lipid asymmetry, echinocytosis, and microvesiculation of erythrocytes, Biochemistry 40 (2001) 9438–9446.
- [138] C. Rauch, E. Farge, Endocytosis switch controlled by transmembrane osmotic pressure and phospholipid number asymmetry, Biophys. J. 78 (2000) 3036–3047.
- [139] S.A. Rooney, S.L. Young, C.R. Mendelson, Molecular and cellular processing of lung surfactant, Faseb J. 8 (1994) 957–967.
- [140] P. Dietl, M. Frick, N. Mair, C. Bertocchi, T. Haller, Pulmonary consequences of a deep breath revisited, Biol. Neonate 85 (2004) 299–304.
- [141] M. Frick, S. Eschertzhuber, T. Haller, N. Mair, P. Dietl, Secretion in alveolar type II cells at the interface of constitutive and regulated exocytosis, Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 25 (2001) 306–315.
- [142] N. Mair, T. Haller, P. Dietl, Exocytosis in alveolar type II cells revealed by cell capacitance and fluorescence measurements, Am. J. Physiol. 276 (1999) L376–382.
- [143] W. Singer, M. Frick, T. Haller, S. Bernet, M. Ritsch-Marte, P. Dietl, Mechanical forces impeding exocytotic surfactant release revealed by optical tweezers, Biophys. J. 84 (2003) 1344–1351.

- [144] R.G. Eckenhoff, A.P. Somlyo, Rat lung type II cell and lamellar body: elemental composition in situ, Am. J. Physiol. 254 (1988) C614–620.
- [145] S.L. Young, E.K. Fram, E.W. Larson, Three-dimensional reconstruction of tubular myelin, Exp. Lung Res. 18 (1992) 497–504.
- [146] T. Haller, P. Dietl, H. Stockner, M. Frick, N. Mair, I. Tinhofer, A. Ritsch, G. Enhorning, G. Putz, Tracing surfactant transformation from cellular release to insertion into an air-liquid interface, Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell Mol. Physiol. 286 (2004) L1009–1015.
- [147] C. Bertocchi, A. Ravasio, S. Bernet, G. Putz, P. Dietl, T. Haller, Optical measurement of surface tension in a miniaturized air-liquid interface and its application in lung physiology, Biophys. J. 89 (2005) 1353–1361.
- [148] H.W. Taeusch, J.B. de la Serna, J. Perez-Gil, C. Alonso, J.A. Zasadzinski, Inactivation of pulmonary surfactant due to serum-inhibited adsorption and reversal by hydrophilic polymers: experimental, Biophys. J. 89 (2005) 1769–1779.
- [149] J. Gil, Histological preservation and ultrastructure of alveolar surfactant, Annu. Rev. Physiol. 47 (1985) 753–763.
- [150] Y. Suzuki, Y. Fujita, K. Kogishi, Reconstitution of tubular myelin from synthetic lipids and proteins associated with pig pulmonary surfactant, Am. Rev. Respir. Dis. 140 (1989) 75–81.
- [151] T.R. Korfhagen, M.D. Bruno, G.F. Ross, K.M. Huelsman, M. Ikegami, A.H. Jobe, S.E. Wert, B.R. Stripp, R.E. Morris, S.W. Glasser, C.J. Bachurski, H.S. Iwamoto, J.A. Whitsett, Altered surfactant function and structure in SP-A gene targeted mice, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 93 (1996) 9594–9599.
- [152] T.R. Korfhagen, A.M. LeVine, J.A. Whitsett, Surfactant protein A (SP-A) gene targeted mice, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1408 (1998) 296–302.
- [153] Y. Kuroki, F.X. McCormack, Y. Ogasawara, R.J. Mason, D.R. Voelker, Epitope mapping for monoclonal antibodies identifies functional domains of pulmonary surfactant protein A that interact with lipids, J. Biol. Chem. 269 (1994) 29793–29800.
- [154] F.X. McCormack, J. Stewart, D.R. Voelker, M. Damodarasamy, Alanine mutagenesis of surfactant protein A reveals that lipid binding and pH-dependent liposome aggregation are mediated by the carbohydrate recognition domain, Biochemistry 36 (1997) 13963–13971.
- [155] R. Malhotra, S.B. Laursen, A.C. Willis, R.B. Sim, Localization of the receptorbinding site in the collectin family of proteins, Biochem. J. 293 (Pt 1) (1993) 15–19.
- [156] F.X. McCormack, M. Damodarasamy, B.M. Elhalwagi, Deletion mapping of Nterminal domains of surfactant protein A. The N-terminal segment is required for phospholipid aggregation and specific inhibition of surfactant secretion, J. Biol. Chem. 274 (1999) 3173–3181.
- [157] S. Eda, Y. Suzuki, T. Kawai, K. Ohtani, T. Kase, Y. Fujinaga, T. Sakamoto, T. Kurimura, N. Wakamiya, Structure of a truncated human surfactant protein D is less effective in agglutinating bacteria than the native structure and fails to inhibit haemagglutination by influenza A virus, Biochem. J. 323 (Pt 2) (1997) 393–399.
- [158] K. Hakansson, N.K. Lim, H.J. Hoppe, K.B. Reid, Crystal structure of the trimeric alpha-helical coiled-coil and the three lectin domains of human lung surfactant protein D, Structure 7 (1999) 255–264.
- [159] A.K. Shrive, H.A. Tharia, P. Strong, U. Kishore, I. Burns, P.J. Rizkallah, K.B. Reid, T.J. Greenhough, High-resolution structural insights into ligand binding and immune cell recognition by human lung surfactant protein D, J. Mol. Biol. 331 (2003) 509–523.
- [160] Y. Kuroki, T. Akino, Pulmonary surfactant protein A (SP-A) specifically binds dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine, J. Biol. Chem. 266 (1991) 3068–3073.
- [161] N. Palaniyar, R.A. Ridsdale, S.A. Hearn, Y.M. Heng, F.P. Ottensmeyer, F. Possmayer, G. Harauz, Filaments of surfactant protein A specifically interact with corrugated surfaces of phospholipid membranes, Am. J. Physiol. 276 (1999) L631–641.
- [162] F.R. Poulain, L. Allen, M.C. Williams, R.L. Hamilton, S. Hawgood, Effects of surfactant apolipoproteins on liposome structure: implications for tubular myelin formation, Am. J. Physiol. 262 (1992) L730–739.
- [163] M.C. Williams, S. Hawgood, R.L. Hamilton, Changes in lipid structure produced by surfactant proteins SP-A, SP-B, and SP-C, Am. J. Respir. Cell. Mol. Biol. 5 (1991) 41–50.
- [164] T. Kaasgaard, C. Leidy, J.H. Crowe, O.G. Mouritsen, K. Jorgensen, Temperaturecontrolled structure and kinetics of ripple phases in one- and two-component supported lipid bilayers, Biophys. J. 85 (2003) 350–360.
- [165] M.M. Kozlov, Biophysics: bending over to attract, Nature 447 (2007) 387-389.
- [166] B.J. Reynwar, G. Illya, V.A. Harmandaris, M.M. Muller, K. Kremer, M. Deserno, Aggregation and vesiculation of membrane proteins by curvature-mediated interactions, Nature 447 (2007) 461–464.
- [167] N. Palaniyar, R.A. Ridsdale, S.A. Hearn, F. Possmayer, G. Harauz, Formation of membrane lattice structures and their specific interactions with surfactant protein A, Am. J. Physiol. 276 (1999) L642–649.
- [168] W.F. Voorhout, T. Veenendaal, H.P. Haagsman, A.J. Verkleij, L.M. van Golde, H.J. Geuze, Surfactant protein A is localized at the corners of the pulmonary tubular myelin lattice, J. Histochem. Cytochem. 39 (1991) 1331–1336.
- [169] E.J. Veldhuizen, H.P. Haagsman, Role of pulmonary surfactant components in surface film formation and dynamics, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1467 (2000) 255–270.
- [170] J. Egberts, H. Sloot, A. Mazure, Minimal surface tension, squeeze-out and transition temperatures of binary mixtures of dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine and unsaturated phospholipids, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1002 (1989) 109–113.
- [171] S.H. Yu, F. Possmayer, Dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine and cholesterol in monolayers spread from adsorbed films of pulmonary surfactant, J. Lipid. Res. 42 (2001) 1421–1429.
- [172] S.H. Yu, F. Possmayer, Lipid compositional analysis of pulmonary surfactant monolayers and monolayer-associated reservoirs, J. Lipid. Res. 44 (2003) 621–629.

- [173] K. Nag, J.G. Munro, K. Inchley, S. Schurch, N.O. Petersen, F. Possmayer, SP-B refining of pulmonary surfactant phospholipid films, Am. J. Physiol. 277 (1999) L1179–1189.
- [174] B. Pastrana-Rios, C.R. Flach, J.W. Brauner, A.J. Mautone, R. Mendelsohn, A direct test of the "squeeze-out" hypothesis of lung surfactant function. External reflection FT–IR at the air/water interface, Biochemistry 33 (1994) 5121–5127.
- [175] R.W. Walters, R.R. Jenq, S.B. Hall, Distinct steps in the adsorption of pulmonary surfactant to an air-liquid interface, Biophys. J. 78 (2000) 257–266.
- [176] S. Schurch, H. Bachofen, F. Possmayer, Surface activity in situ, in vivo, and in the captive bubble surfactometer, Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A. Mol. Integr. Physiol. 129 (2001) 195–207.
- [177] K. Nag, J. Perez-Gil, M.L. Ruano, L.A. Worthman, J. Stewart, C. Casals, K.M. Keough, Phase transitions in films of lung surfactant at the air-water interface, Biophys. J. 74 (1998) 2983–2995.
- [178] S. Schurch, H. Bachofen, J. Goerke, F. Possmayer, A captive bubble method reproduces the in situ behavior of lung surfactant monolayers, J. Appl. Physiol. 67 (1989) 2389–2396.
- [179] H. Bachofen, U. Gerber, P. Gehr, M. Amrein, S. Schurch, Structures of pulmonary surfactant films adsorbed to an air-liquid interface in vitro, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1720 (2005) 59–72.
- [180] S. Schurch, R. Qanbar, H. Bachofen, F. Possmayer, The surface-associated surfactant reservoir in the alveolar lining, Biol Neonate 67 (Suppl 1) (1995) 61–76.
- [181] D. Follows, F. Tiberg, R.K. Thomas, M. Larsson, Multilayers at the surface of solutions of exogenous lung surfactant: direct observation by neutron reflection, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1768 (2007) 228–235.
- [182] S. Krol, M. Ross, M. Sieber, S. Kunneke, H.J. Galla, A. Janshoff, Formation of threedimensional protein-lipid aggregates in monolayer films induced by surfactant protein B, Biophys. J. 79 (2000) 904–918.
- [183] A. Kramer, A. Wintergalen, M. Sieber, H.J. Galla, M. Amrein, R. Guckenberger, Distribution of the surfactant-associated protein C within a lung surfactant model film investigated by near-field optical microscopy, Biophys. J. 78 (2000) 458–465.
- [184] M. Amrein, A. von Nahmen, M. Sieber, A scanning force- and fluorescence light microscopy study of the structure and function of a model pulmonary surfactant, Eur. Biophys. J. 26 (1997) 349–357.

- [185] C.G. Cochrane, A critical examination of the role of SP-B in alveolar expansion, Appl. Cardiopulm. Pathophysiol. 13 (2004) 27–29.
- [186] L.R. Montes, A. Alonso, F.M. Goni, L.A. Bagatolli, Giant unilamellar vesicles electroformed from native membranes and organic lipid mixtures under physiological conditions, Biophys. J. 93 (2007) 3548–3554.
- [187] K. Nag, J.S. Pao, R.R. Harbottle, F. Possmayer, N.O. Petersen, L.A. Bagatolli, Segregation of saturated chain lipids in pulmonary surfactant films and bilayers, Biophys. J. 82 (2002) 2041–2051.
- [188] C.B. Daniels, H.A. Barr, J.H. Power, T.E. Nicholas, Body temperature alters the lipid composition of pulmonary surfactant in the lizard *Ctenophorus nuchalis*, Exp. Lung Res. 16 (1990) 435–449.
- [189] C. Langman, S. Orgeig, C.B. Daniels, Alterations in composition and function of surfactant associated with torpor in *Sminthopsis crassicaudata*, Am. J. Physiol. 271 (1996) R437-445.
- [190] S. Orgeig, C.B. Daniels, The roles of cholesterol in pulmonary surfactant: insights from comparative and evolutionary studies, Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A. Mol. Integr. Physiol. 129 (2001) 75–89.
- [191] S. Orgeig, C.B. Daniels, S.D. Johnston, L.C. Sullivan, The pattern of surfactant cholesterol during vertebrate evolution and development: does ontogeny recapitulate phylogeny? Reprod. Fertil. Dev. 15 (2003) 55–73.
- [192] P. Markart, C. Ruppert, M. Wygrecka, T. Colaris, B. Dahal, D. Walmrath, H. Harbach, J. Wilhelm, W. Seeger, R. Schmidt, A. Guenther, Patients with ARDS show improvement but not normalisation of alveolar surface activity with surfactant treatment: putative role of neutral lipids, Thorax 62 (2007) 588–594.
- [193] R.V. Diemel, M.M. Snel, L.M. Van Golde, G. Putz, H.P. Haagsman, J.J. Batenburg, Effects of cholesterol on surface activity and surface topography of spread surfactant films, Biochemistry 41 (2002) 15007–15016.
- [194] M. Larsson, J.F. van Iwaarden, J.J. Haitsma, B. Lachmann, P. Wollmer, Human SP-A and a pharmacy-grade porcine lung surfactant extract can be reconstituted into tubular myelin—a comparative structural study of alveolar surfactants using cryo-transmission electron microscopy, Clin. Physiol. Funct. Imaging 23 (2003) 199–203.
- [195] A. Cruz, C. Casals, J. Perez-Gil, Conformational flexibility of pulmonary surfactant proteins SP-B and SP-C, studied in aqueous organic solvents, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1255 (1995) 68–76.